Diverse roles of microbial indole compounds in eukaryotic systems

Prasun Kumar, Jin-Hyung Lee* and Jintae Lee*

School of Chemical Engineering, Yeungnam University, 280 Daehak-Ro, Gyeongsan, 38541, Republic of Korea

ABSTRACT

Indole and its derivatives are widespread across different life forms, functioning as signalling molecules in prokaryotes and with more diverse roles in eukaryotes. A majority of indoles found in the environment are attributed to bacterial enzymes converting tryptophan into indole and its derivatives. The involvement of indoles among lower organisms as an interspecies and intraspecies signal is well known, with many reports showing that inter-kingdom interactions involving microbial indole compounds are equally important as they influence defence systems and even the behaviour of higher organisms. This review summarizes recent advances in our understanding of the functional properties of indole and indole derivatives in diverse eukaryotes. Furthermore, we discuss current perspectives on the role of microbial indoles in human diseases such as diabetes, obesity, atherosclerosis, and cancers. Deciphering the function of indoles as biomarkers of metabolic state will facilitate the formulation of diet-based treatments and open unique therapeutic opportunities.

Key words: AhR signalling, indoles, inter-kingdom signalling, symbiosis and dysbiosis, tryptophan metabolites, xenobiotic sensor

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2523
II.	Effects of microbial indole metabolites in eukaryotes	2523
	(1) Indoles as effector molecules for CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS (roundworm)	2524
	(2) Indole compounds as biocontrol agents	2524
	(3) Indoles as a cue in insects	2524
	(4) Influence of microbial indoles on marine organisms	2528
	(5) Indoles in plants defence	2529
	(6) Role of indoles in the healthspan of eukaryotes	2530
III.	Functional relationships between gut indoles and different organs	2530
	(1) Gut–immune axis	2531
	(2) Gut-kidney axis and kidney disease	2531
	(3) Crosstalk between gut indoles and the liver	2532
	(4) Microbiota–gut–brain axis	2534
IV.	Roles of indoles in human health and disease	2534
	(1) Microbial indoles in inflammatory bowel disease	2534
	(2) Indoles in the progression of diabetes, obesity, and associated ailments	2534
	(3) Role of indoles in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease	2535
	(4) Influence of indoles in cancer	2536
	(5) Atherosclerosis progression and its association with indoles	2536
V.	Indolic metabolites as biomarkers of disease	2536
VI.	The exploitation of indoles for therapeutic purposes	2538
VII.	Significance and outlook	2539

^{*} Address for correspondence: (Tel.: +82 53 810 3812; E-mail: jinhlee@ynu.ac.kr); (Tel.: +82 53 810 2533; E-mail: jtlee@ynu.ac.kr)

Biological Reviews 96 (2021) 2522–2545 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

VIII.	Conclusions
IX.	Acknowledgements
Х.	References

I. INTRODUCTION

Indole is an important biomolecule widely distributed in nature. Large quantities of extracellular indole (ranging from 0.3 to 6 mM) have been detected in the fecal samples of healthy individuals indicating the abundance of indoleproducing bacteria in the gut (Darkoh et al., 2015; Hubbard, Murray & Perdew, 2015b; Chappell et al., 2016; Dong et al., 2020; Dvořák et al., 2020). It is now well established that human health is profoundly associated with the composition and function of gut microbiota. Qualitative (composition) or quantitative (population) changes in the gut microbiota can greatly influence the physiology of the host, contributing to several chronic diseases such as malnutrition, obesity, neurological disorders, cancers, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), type 2 diabetes, atherosclerosis, metabolic syndromes, and liver diseases (Hendrikx & Schnabl, 2019). Disruption of symbiosis (dysbiosis) can occur due to multiple factors including diet, environmental factors, stress, aging, drug use, etc., which alter systemic levels of indoles (Biscetti et al., 2019; Shi et al., 2020). Although many microbes can synthesize tryptophan through the chorismate-linked biosynthetic pathway, proteolytic activities are the major source of tryptophan for gut bacteria. Only those harbouring the tryptophanase gene can produce indole. There are three possible sources of indoles in eukaryotes: (i) exogenous supply (from the environment); (ii) endogenous supply (self-produced within the tissues); and (iii) microbe derived.

In the gut, the quantity of indole and its derivatives is under the direct or indirect control of the microbiota. Tryptophan metabolism by gut microbiota leads to the synthesis of several catabolites such as tryptamine, indole, indole-3-acetamide, indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), indole acrylic acid, indole-3-aldehyde, indole-3-lactic acid, indole-3-propionic acid, and indole-3-pyruvate (Hendrikx & Schnabl, 2019). Moreover, indole can be further metabolized by the host into other biologically active metabolites such as indoxyl-3-sulfate (I3S), oxindole, dioxindole, 3-formylindole, kynurenine, kynurenic acid, isatin, etc. (Wang et al., 2017; Agus, Planchais & Sokol, 2018; Jaglin et al., 2018). In animals, indole is known to affect host intestinal epithelial barrier integrity, to control inflammation in the gut (Bansal et al., 2010), to protect against chemically induced colitis (Shimada et al., 2013), and even to prolong host health span (Sonowal et al., 2017). Indole moiety-containing hormones (e.g. serotonin and melatonin) not only influence the nervous system but also regulate organ development, gastrointestinal functions, and the intestinal immune system as well as bone growth (Beaumont et al., 2018; Roager & Licht, 2018).

To date, microbes have been extensively studied for their influence on gut health, eubiosis, the gut immune system, and the gut-brain and gut-liver axes (Wishart, 2019; McCarville et al., 2020). Among the many microbial metabolites,

2523

indoles have been found to be involved in crosstalk between several organs and to influence host physiology. Most of these molecules exert biological functions through three main receptor-mediated signal transduction pathways, namely the arvl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), pregnane X receptor (PXR), and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) expressed in various cell types within the gut (epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and immune cells) (Zelante et al., 2013; Venkatesh et al., 2014; Rasmussen et al., 2016; Seok et al., 2018; Pulakazhi Venu et al., 2019). Recent advances in metabolomics and metagenomics have enhanced our understanding of the microbiome; however, the mechanistic study of host-microbe interaction in a diseased or healthy person is still an active area of research.

Indole and its derivatives are also known for their roles as inter-species and inter-kingdom signals (Lee, Wood & Lee, 2015b; Tomberlin et al., 2017). The production of indole compounds is largely attributed to microbial metabolism within various ecological niches (Lee & Lee, 2010). For the past two decades, indole and related compounds have been investigated to understand their roles in prokaryotes, particularly in biofilm formation, defence, drug resistance, and virulence. Although microbes share ecological niches with eukaryotes, the effects of microbially produced indole and its derivatives on eukaryotes initially went unnoticed. In eukaryotes, including plants and animals, indole compounds are now known to play major roles as cues, signals, or amplifiers that affect their behaviour. Indoles function differently at different concentrations and govern unique insect behaviours (Liu et al., 2016). This review assesses our current understanding of the roles of microbially derived indole compounds in eukaryotes as signals or effectors influencing a variety of activities. Although indoles as signalling molecules in prokaryotic systems have been widely reported (Lee & Lee, 2010; Lee et al., 2015a, 2015b; Defoirdt, 2018; Zarkan et al., 2020), only a few reviews have considered the effects of indoles as signals in invertebrates (Tomberlin et al., 2017) or indole-based signalling in higher animals (Hubbard et al., 2015b; McCarville et al., 2020; Pernomian, Duarte-Silva & de Barros Cardoso, 2020).

In the light of recent findings, we provide a systematic compilation of indole compounds in different eukaryotes, and their roles in metabolic diseases due to their AhRdependent and independent activities. We discuss how such information could be exploited for the benefit of humans. The involvement of indoles in human health is also discussed.

II. EFFECTS OF MICROBIAL INDOLE METABOLITES IN EUKARYOTES

Indole is one of the most important volatile bacterial compounds (Audrain et al., 2015). Indole is a valuable

environmental cue that is utilized (emitted or received) by a variety of organisms to provide them with fitness advantages (Mueller *et al.*, 2009; Wang *et al.*, 2017; Gilbert *et al.*, 2018) (Table 1). Indole compounds thus have been exploited for coordinated action within organisms and for influencing their behaviour. Some aspects of the behaviour of indole as a cue or signal have been reviewed previously (Tomberlin *et al.*, 2017). Unique functions of indole and indole-like compounds in diverse eukaryotes (including amoebae, helminths, arthropods, molluscs, mammals, and plants) are presented in Table 1.

(1) Indoles as effector molecules for *Caenorhabditis elegans* (roundworm)

In natural environments, interactions among living organisms are inevitable. These interactions may be either beneficial or harmful to one or both parties. In soil ecosystems, where worms and microbes show consumer-resource dynamics, vertebrate-like olfactory neurons allow nematodes such as Caenorhabditis elegans to sense indole and locate their food in the soil (Lee et al., 2017) (Table 1). Indoles produced by soil microbes can modulate this foraging behaviour and pathogen-induced olfactory learning in C. elegans (Zhang et al., 2005; Tanaka et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2020). Microbial food resources can also be altered using chemicals/nanoparticles applied during environmental remediation. For instance, exposure to toxic nanoparticles can affect the indole-producing ability of Escherichia coli OP50, reducing its attractiveness as a food for C. elegans (Yang et al., 2020).

(2) Indole compounds as biocontrol agents

In the soil, endophytes play an important role in plant growth. Various bioactive compounds have been reported from microbial endophytes with activities including antimicrobial, antiviral, immunomodulatory, nematicidal, etc. (Toghueo, 2019). By contrast, metabolites of nematodes mediate predator-prev interactions and stimulate the activity of IAA-producing bacteria resulting in higher levels in the soil (Li et al., 2020). A tripartite interaction thus can exist between endophytes, nematodes, and plants: the fungal endophyte Fusarium oxysporum 162 secretes IAA that both directly repels root-knot nematode (Meloidogyne incognita) J2 larvae and acts indirectly via stimulation of plant defence mechanisms and vigour (Bogner et al., 2017). Similar effects were shown for the bacterial endophyte Bacillus cereus BCM2 that can produce IAA and enhance plant vigour by activating defence-related genes in tomato (Solanum lycopersicon) (Hu et al., 2018). Indole also serves as a precursor for deterrent metabolites such as benzoxazinoids produced by some plants as a defence against a variety of pests including aphids, caterpillars, and nematodes (Cna'ani, Seifan & Tzin, 2018; Erb & Reymond, 2019).

Indole-based compounds can lead to high nematode mortality and therefore have the potential to replace toxic chemicals currently in use for the control of plant-parasitic nematodes. In vitro studies with several indole compounds revealed effective nematicidal activity against C. elegans, Bursaphelenchus xylophilus, and M. incognita (Bommarius et al., 2013; Rajasekharan et al., 2017, 2019, 2020). For example, 5-iodoindole led to organ disruption/shrinkage and the formation of multiple vacuoles that rapidly killed juveniles and freshly hatched nematodes (Rajasekharan et al., 2017, 2020). The anthelmintic activity of these compounds was attributed to their antagonistic effect on glutathione S-transferase which suppresses the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Rajasekharan et al., 2020). Root gall formation and egg mass deposition were both reduced by indoles, without impacting the physiological properties of tomato plants (Rajasekharan et al., 2020).

(3) Indoles as a cue in insects

Insects, such as flies and mosquitoes, can recognize indole and 3-methylindole (skatole) (Dekel et al., 2019) (Table 1). For insects, indole and skatole present in carrion and animal wastes are natural cues of food sources, mating, and oviposition sites. Skatole is behaviourally active in several insects; as a sex pheromone in dung beetles and as an attractant for scarab beetles, male euglossine bees, and flies (Urech et al., 2004; Jürgens et al., 2006). Indolergic receptors present in the antennae of mosquitoes play a key role in identifying olfactory cues - indole, skatole, or a mixture of these - and elicit a strong response (Dekel et al., 2019). Indole, skatole and tryptamine are also known to be electrophysiologically active compounds that can be detected by the highly conserved olfactory receptors OR2 and OR10 (Table 2) in Aedes aegypti, Culex quinquefasciatus, and Anopheles gambiae (Pelletier et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010; Chen & Luetje, 2014; Ruel et al., 2019). These functionally conserved receptors have important roles in the life cycle of insects (Ruel et al., 2019). Indole and skatole are well-established cues that enable the selection of oviposition sites and hosts (animal or plant) (Lee et al., 2017; Dekel et al., 2019). These cues are indicators of high microbial activity and are present in significant quantities in animal wastes, skin, and sweat. The mammalian skin microbiota plays a role in the production of these indolic kairomones (Meijerink et al., 2000): sweat incubated for 2 days contained 27.9% indole and was more attractive to A. gambiae than freshly collected sweat samples. Similarly, indole-3-acetonitrile deters butterfly Pieris rapae oviposition, suggesting that insects can detect several indole compounds which influence their behaviour (Tomberlin et al., 2017).

Flies show behavioural variation to different doses of indoles. Both sexes of adult flies are attracted to higher concentrations of indoles, while they are repelled at lower concentrations. However, non-gravid female flies show similar responses to all levels of indoles (Liu *et al.*, 2016). Interestingly, gravid females prefer fresh carrion, which is probably better suited to the development of their offspring compared to decomposing vertebrate carrion (Brodie *et al.*, 2016). Thus, the relative priority given by the female flies to nutrition or

Table 1. Indole and indole derivatives as inter-kingdom signalling molecules

Indole compound	Sources	Target species	Remarks	References
Plants Indole	Escherichia coli tnaA mutant (IW3686)	Arabidopsis thaliana Columbia-0 ecotype	Increased plant secondary root network	Bailly et al. (2014)
	Proteus vulgaris IBLS202	Chinese cabbage	Promoted seedling growth	Yu & Lee (2013)
	Proteus vulgaris JBLS202	A. thaliana Col-0	Stimulated growth through auxin, cytokinin, and brassinosteroid (hormone-signalling) pathways	Bhattacharyya, Garladinne & Lee (2015)
	Clathrus archeri (stinkhorn fungus) and flowers of fly- pollinated angiosperms	Flies and beetles	Acted as an attractant to pollinators	Johnson & Jürgens (2010); Jürgens, Dötterl & Meve (2006)
Indole and indole- 3-lactic acid	Endophytic bacteria	Duckweed	Promoted duckweed growth	Gilbert et al. (2018)
Indole, indole-3- carboxaldehyde, and indole- 3-acetic acid	Escherichia coli	Caenorhabditis elegans	Showed nematicidal activity	Bommarius et al. (2013)
Indole and indole derivatives	E. coli	C. elegans	Modulated chemotaxis, egg-laying behaviour and survival	Lee et al. (2017)
2-oxindole and 3,3'-dimethylene bisindole	E. coli	C. elegans	Showed repellent activity	Lee et al. (2017)
5-iodoindole	Synthetic	Bursaphelenchus xylophilus	Diminished fecundity, embryonic and juvenile lethality and locomotor behaviours	Rajasekharan et al. (2017)
	Synthetic	Meloidogyne incognita	Activated reactive oxygen species (ROS) at high doses, while induced methuosis at low dosage	Rajasekharan et al. (2020)
Melatonin	Natural and synthetic	C. elegans	Influenced locomotory behaviour and pathogen-induced olfactory learning	Tanaka et al. (2007)
Serotonin	Natural and synthetic	C. elegans	Modified olfactory preferences in <i>C. elegans</i> and promoted aversive learning <i>via</i> MOD-1 (modulation of locomotion defective) expressed in sensory interneurons	Zhang, Lu & Bargmann (2005)
Insects	Dustana minskilis za d	Initia animata (hlanda)		\mathbf{L} is a $d (9016)$
Indole	microbes	Lucuia sericaia (blowily)	oviposition	
	Vertebrate host (host- microbe derived)	Anopheles gambiae (mosquito)	Acted as an attractant for blood meal	Meijerink et al. (2000)
	Microbes on human skin	Culex quinquefasciatus	Acted as an attractant for oviposition	Pelletier et al. (2010)
	Zea mays infected with Spodoptera exigua (beet armyworm)	Cotesia marginiventns (female parasitoid wasp)	Acted as an attractant for oviposition	Erb et al. (2015)
	Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria	Aedes aegypti (mosquito)	Acted as an attractant for oviposition	Ruel, Yakir & Bohbot (2019)
	Holotrichia reynaudi (female)	Holotrichia reynaudi (male)	Acted as an attractant for mating	Tomberlin et al. (2017)
Indole and	Natural and synthetic	Toxorhynchites amboinmsis	Attractant for oviposition site selection	Dekel, Yakir & Bobbot (2019)
Indole derivatives	Natural and synthetic	A. aegypti	Controlled A. <i>aegypti</i> larvae population, without toxicity	Sousa <i>et al.</i> (2019)
Indole mixed with other chemicals Oxindole	Natural and synthetic	Chrysomya spp. and Lucilia cuprina Spodoptera exigua	Acted as an attractant	Urech et al. (2004)

Table 1. (Cont.)

Indole compound	Sources	Target species	Remarks	References
Mammals	Xenorhabdus hominickii ANU101 (entomopathogenic bacterium)		Inhibited eicosanoid biosynthesis, haemocyte nodulation and PLA_2 enzyme activity of the host	Sadekuzzaman et al. (2017)
Indole	Natural and synthetic	<i>Homo sapiens</i> (human enterocyte cell line)	Controlled inflammation and tightened epithelial cell junctions by suppressing nuclear factor kappa B (NF-KB) and increasing expression of anti- inflammatory genes	Bansal et al. (2010)
		Germ-free mice	Increased expression of molecules associated with tight junction and adherens junction in gut epithelial cells	Shimada et al. (2013)
		Mice	Reduced the expression of proteins of the NF-κB pathway and prevented the detrimental effects of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in the liver	Beaumont et al. (2018)
Indoleacrylic acid	Peptostreptococcus sp.	Mice and human immune cells	Promoted anti-inflammatory responses and reduced oxidative stress in intestine	Wlodarska et al. (2017)
Indole-3-aldehyde	Gut microbe (<i>Lactobacillus</i>)	Mice	Protected against candidiasis and colitis through higher interleukin-22 (IL-22) production by aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) activation	Zelante <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Indole 3-lactic acid	Bifidobacteria	Rat adrenal pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells	Worked as AhR agonist and induced neurite growth <i>via</i> extracellular signal- regulated kinase (Bas/ERK) pathway	Wong et al. (2020)
Indole 3-propionic acid	Microbiota-derived	Mice	Regulated endothelium-dependent vasodilation and activated the pregnane X receptor	Pulakazhi Venu et al. (2019)
	Gut microbiota	Human patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD)	Associated with renal function changes and protection against CKD	Sun et al. (2019a)
Indoxyl-3-sulfate	Gut microbiota	Human patients with CKD	Higher levels found in advanced chronic kidnev failure	Yeh et al. (2016)
	Natural and synthetic	Human astrocytes	Triggered apoptosis by oxidative stress and inhibiting mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway	Lin et al. (2019b)
Others				
Indole	Vibrio cholerae	Dictyostelium discoideum (soil-dwelling amoeba)	Increased grazing resistance of <i>Vibrio</i> by inducing genes involved in virulence- associated secretion	Mueller et al. (2009)
	Vibrio splendidus	Apostichopus japonicus (sea cucumber)	Altered the expression of immune-related genes (<i>Aib105</i> and <i>AiLBP/BPI1</i>) in host	Zhang et al. (2017)
	<i>Aquitalea</i> sp. (commensal bacteria)	Dugesia japonica (planarian)	Altered regenerative outcomes in planarians by controlling expression of patterning and Wnt pathway genes	Williams et al. (2020)
Indole and 3- formylindole	Vibrio alginolyticus	Barnacle Balanus albicostatus Perna viridis (green mussel)	Showed antifouling activity without any toxicity to barnacle cyprids Inhibited byssal thread production and showed antifouling activity without toxicity	Wang et al. (2017)

egg-laying is apparently involved in their attraction to indoles. In fresh canine faeces, indole is the most abundant semiochemical that functions as a 'food-indicator' instead of identifying an oviposition resource (Brodie *et al.*, 2016). Recently, it was observed that the presence of indole as a tertiary blend in chemoattractants extracted from rats enhanced its attractiveness to male Asian tiger mosquito (*Aedes albopictus*) (Díaz-Santiz *et al.*, 2020). Besides acting as a signal, indole compounds can be lethal to insects. The entomopathogenic bacterium *Xenorhabdus hominickii* ANU101 transforms indole to oxindole which suppresses the insect immune response and nodule formation by fifth-instar larvae of *Spodoptera exigua*

Indole compounds	Structure	Effect on eukaryotic receptor	Assay methods ^a	$EC_{50}\left(\mu M\right)$	References
Mouse and hum	nan				
Indole		Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	1485	Vyhlídalová
	NH	Human AhR agonist	AHR responsive luciferase reporter (HepG2 cells)	3	<i>et al.</i> (2020) Hubbard <i>et al.</i> (2015 <i>a</i>)
		Human AhR agonist	Induction of <i>CYP1A1</i> mRNA (CaCo-2 cells)	>1000	Jin <i>et al.</i> (2014)
		Human AhR antagonist	TCDD competition assay for induction of <i>CTP1A1</i> mRNA (CaCo-2 cells)	>500	Jin et al. (2014)
		Weak AhR agonist	Yeast β -galactosidase assay (Saccharomyces cerevisiae)	>200	Miller (1997)
Indole-3-acetic acid	Сон	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells])	84.20	Vyhlídalová <i>et al.</i> (2020)
	NH	Human AhR agonist	Induction of <i>CYP1A1</i> mRNA (CaCo-2 cells)	37	Jin <i>et al.</i> (2014)
		Weak AhR agonist	Several AhR-dependent bioassay systems (Hepa1c1c7 and H1L1.1c2)	500	Heath-Pagliuso et al. (1998)
		Weak AhR agonist	Yeast β -galactosidase assay (S.	>200	Miller (1997)
Indole-3- acetaldehyde		AhR agonist	Wild-type and $Ahr^{-/-}$ mouse model	ND^b	Zelante et al. (2013); Yu et al. (2019)
Indole- 3-aldehyde	NH O	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	62.22	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
Indole-3-lactic acid	ИН ОН	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	82.03	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
Indole- 3-propionic		Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	98.33	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
acid		Weak agonist to human PXR	Human PXR reporter gene (293 T cells)	120	Venkatesh et al. (2014)
		Agonist to mouse PXR	Mouse PXR reporter gene (293 T cells)	0.55	Venkatesh et al. (2014)
Indole-3-acrylate	ОН	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	42.25	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
Indole-3-ethanol	OH	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	97.97	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
Indole-3-pyruvic acid	он	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	98.53	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
Indole- 3-acetamide	NH NH2	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	99.95	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
Indoxyl-3-sulfate	OH OH	Active for human and Neanderthal AhR Active for human and	Induction of <i>Cyp1a1</i> (nAhR and hAhR transfected BP8 cells) Induction of <i>Cyp1b1</i> (AhR transfected	0.0004 and 0.0012 0.0007 and	Hubbard <i>et al.</i> (2016) Hubbard
	V TNH	Neanderthal AhRs Human AhR agonist	BP8 cells) DRE-coupled luciferase reporter	0.0008 ND	<i>et al.</i> (2016) Schroeder
		AhR agonist and partial AhR	(human hepatoma cells) Induction of <i>CYP1A1</i> mRNA (CaCo-2 cells)	ND	et al. (2010) Jin et al. (2014)
		antagonist Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	103.17	

Table 2. (Cont.)

Indole compounds	Structure	Effect on eukaryotic receptor	Assay methods ^a	$EC_{50}\left(\mu M\right)$	References
Skatole or 3-methylindole	CH3				Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
,	NH	Partial AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (CaCo-2 cells)	ND	Kurata <i>et al.</i> (2019)
		AhR antagonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	19	Stepankova et al. (2018)
		Weak activator and a partial agonist of AhR	Reporter gene assays (HepG2-C3 and human hepatocytes)	ND	Rasmussen et al. (2016)
Tryptamine	NH2	Weak AhR agonist	Several AhR-dependent bioassay systems (Hepa1c1c7 and H1L1.1c2)	200	Heath-Pagliuso et al. (1998)
	NH	Weak AhR agonist	Reporter gene assay (AZ-AHR cells)	83.15	Vyhlídalová et al. (2020)
		Human AhR agonist	Induction of <i>CYP1A1</i> mRNA (CaCo-2 cells)	48	Jin et al. (2014)
Insects, plants,	and others			0	
Indole	AaegOR2	AaegOR2 agonist	Electro-antennogram (EAG) responses from female Anopheles gambiae	1.67×10^{-8}	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2010)
	AaegOR9	AaegOR2 agonist	Two-electrode voltage clamp of <i>Xenopus</i> oocytes expressing olfactory receptors	0.828	
Skatole or, 3-methylindole	AaegOR9	Strong AaegOR9 agonist	Two-electrode voltage clamp of <i>Xenopus</i> oocytes expressing olfactory receptors	0.0048	Ruel et al. (2019)
	AaegOR10	AaegOR10 agonist	Two-electrode voltage clamp of <i>Xenopus</i> oocytes expressing olfactory	0.1	Ruel et al. (2019)
	AaegOR11	Weak AaegOR11 agonist	Electro-antennogram (EAG) responses from female Anopheles gamhiae	2.43×10^{-5}	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2010)
Tryptamine	Insect olfactory receptors (ORs)	ORs antagonist	<i>Xenopus</i> oocytes expressing olfactory receptors	1-48	Chen & Luetje (2014)
Indole- 3-carbinol	Auxin receptor (A. thaliana)	Auxin antagonist	Seedling germination and root elongation measurement	IC ₅₀ : 125	Katz et al. (2015)
Indole	Auxin receptor (A. thaliana)	Auxin antagonist	Seedling germination and root elongation measurement	IC ₅₀ : 125	Bailly et al. (2014)

AaegOR, Aedes aegypti odorant receptor; AhR, Aryl hydrocarbon receptor; EC_{50} , half maximal inhibitory concentration; IC_{50} , half maximal inhibitory concentration; PXR, pregnane X receptor; TCDD, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. ^aNote: assay methods to obtain EC_{50} value vary among studies and may affect the results. Readers are suggested to refer to the original articles. ^bND: not determined.

(Sadekuzzaman *et al.*, 2017) (Table 1). This suppression can be reversed by arachidonic acid, suggesting that the bacterium inhibits phospholipase activity to induce host immunosuppression (Sadekuzzaman *et al.*, 2017). A few indole derivatives have been used to control *A. aegypti* larval populations (Sousa *et al.*, 2019). The intricacy of insect relationships with indoles could be beneficial in exploiting indoles as insecticides, insect repellents, or attractants.

(4) Influence of microbial indoles on marine organisms

In the marine environment, various organisms synthesize indole and related compounds (Table 1). Molluscs are well known for their ability to produce valuable indole compounds including brominated indoles, which are used as dyes (purple colours) and in traditional medicines for reducing inflammation (Nongmaithem *et al.*, 2017). The hypobranchial glands are the source of halogenated indoles, however increasing evidence suggests that some of the conversion steps are carried out by symbiotic bacteria (Ngangbam *et al.*, 2015*b*; Baten *et al.*, 2016). It was suggested that the starting point of indole synthesis is tryptophan metabolism by symbionts; this was supported by transcriptomic data (Baten *et al.*, 2016). Brominated indoles produced by molluscs such as *Dicathais orbita* are usually stored as salts of choline esters and display muscle relaxing and analgesic activity (Nongmaithem *et al.*, 2017). The hypobranchial gland of *D. orbita* contains *Vibrio* and other symbionts capable of producing indole and other enzymes that may contribute to the synthesis of the Tyrian purple precursor (Ngangbam *et al.*, 2015*a*).

Some bivalve molluscs produce byssal threads that allow them to attach firmly to ship hulls, piling, concrete, etc. (Wang et al., 2017). Termed 'fouling', this is a serious threat to ships and power plants due to clogging of cooling systems. Controlling fouling using natural compounds is desirable as chemical treatments can have negative effects on non-target organisms. Interestingly, Vibrio alginolyticus PE2 associated with sea anemones (Haliplanella sp.) secretes antifouling compounds (Wang et al., 2017). Indole and 3-formylindole were found to be the main bioactive compounds in a crude extract of V. alginolyticus PE2. Inhibition of byssal thread formation by green mussel (Perna viridis) and reduction in barnacle (Balanus albicostatus) larval settlement shows the potential for these non-toxic indole compounds to be used as natural antifouling agents (Wang et al., 2017). This study reveals unexplored intricacies of marine ecosystems, but more detailed study will be necessary for a better understanding of the inhibitory mechanisms of indole.

Many indole-based interspecies interactions occur in the marine environment (Wang et al., 2017; Helm, 2018). For example, skin ulceration syndrome in the sea cucumber Apostichopus japonicus is caused by pathogens such as Vibrio splendidus and Pseudomonas spp. (Zhang et al., 2017). In the marine bacterium, V. splendidus, indole production is linked to cell density and the presence of glucose inhibits indole production due to cyclic AMP (cAMP)-based catabolite repression of the tryptophanase gene, tnaA (Zhang et al., 2017). As an energy-conservation strategy, V. splendidus favours the operation of other metabolic pathways and indole-based signalling is used for the suppression of virulence genes such as vsh, vsm, and ABC (Zhang et al., 2017). For A. japonicus, the presence of indole upregulated the expression of the immune-related genes for lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (AiLBP), bactericidal permeability-increasing protein (AjBPII), and a transcription regulator (Aip105) that modulates the ROS response (Zhang et al., 2017). This suggests a similar role of indole as an inter-kingdom signal mediating host-microbe interactions analogous to those discussed above for higher plants or animals. The study of bacterial symbionts associated with marine invertebrates and their biochemical interactions is still in its infancy. Several host-symbiont interactions in marine organisms such as sea anemones, deep-sea tubeworms, sponges, etc., are known to involve unique indole-related genes, and thus metagenomics and a pyrosequencing approach would be helpful to unveil their vast diversity.

(5) Indoles in plants defence

Plants utilize indole compounds for various purposes – as hormones, pollinator attractants, deterrent metabolites against herbivores, and aerial priming agents to alert neighbouring plants (Katz *et al.*, 2015; Cna'ani *et al.*, 2018). Floral

signalling is an important phenomenon in which the plantpollinator interaction comprises visual (colour and shape) and olfactory (volatile compounds) cues. Floral volatiles contain indole compounds which have pleasant scents at low concentrations (e.g. jasmine) and act as attractants for flies and other insects for pollination (Zito, Dötterl & Sajeva, 2015). Indole elicits a strong antennal response in diverse insect classes such as hummingbird moths, houseflies, and mining bees, which detect the signal while foraging (Cna'ani et al., 2018). Indole present in the floral scent bouquets of *Ipomopsis tenuituba* promotes the visit of nocturnal hawkmoths (Bischoff, Jürgens & Campbell, 2014). Through convergent evolution, some angiosperms have developed the ability to mimic a faecal or carrion scent to attract their pollinators (Johnson & Jürgens, 2010). Consequently, indole and skatole are part of the floral scent in some sapromyiophilous plants such as Orbea variegata and O. vertucosa that rely heavily on olfactory cues for pollination (Table 1) (Johnson & Jürgens, 2010). Similarly, Desmidorchis flava flower scent includes a mixture of skatole, carboxylic acid, and isoprenoids. It is thought that sapromyiophilous plant species employ a generalist strategy by producing several volatile compounds including indole, phenolics, fatty acids, etc., to attract pollinators from different species and to exploit their behaviour (Jürgens et al., 2006).

Many tritrophic interactions involving bacteria-plantinsect (pollinators or herbivores) exist in nature (Ye et al., 2018; Erb & Reymond, 2019). Negative plantinsect interactions occur in the context of mechanical injury or herbivore attack (Ye et al., 2018). A blend of volatile compounds can be released by insect-infested plants [e.g. maize (Zea mays), rice (Oryza sativa), tea (Camellia sinensis) and cotton (Gossypium hirsutum)] which affect herbivores in different ways (Erb et al., 2015; Ye et al., 2021b). These compounds signal the presence of herbivores at the damaged site (and may thus attract herbivore enemies such as wasps) and also the decreased nutritional value of the damaged site, thereby inhibiting further herbivore attacks (Ye et al., 2018). In addition, they also signal to herbivores regarding the synthesis of deterrent compounds. These volatile signals may also work as endogenous aerial priming agents for neighbouring plants (Erb et al., 2015). Indole exposure induces defence mechanisms in nearby plants, providing them with enhanced resistance against likely herbivore attack (Erb et al., 2015). Species-specific priming has been observed in herbivoreinfested maize leaves that emit indole. This induced defence mechanisms in other leaves of the plant and in adjacent maize plants involving the enhanced synthesis of terpenes and phytohormones (jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, etc.) (Shen et al., 2018). The exact mechanism by which such priming effects take place remains unclear and indole receptors in plants have yet to be identified. A recent study shows that indole boosts Ca²⁺ signalling and thereby enhances jasmonate-dependent defence and resistance in tea plants (Ye et al., 2020).

Some plants 'outsource' the production of indole compounds through their interaction with endophytic microbes that are involved in plant growth and defence systems (Gilbert et al., 2018). Thus, conspecific priming by indole or its derivatives may have evolved as a private messaging system to warn close kin and a plant's own tissues. The signal could be received by receptor proteins similar to that found in the bacterium Stigmatella aurantiaca (Erb et al., 2015). Signalling would be followed by a chain of events leading to the synthesis of phytohormones or other deterrent indole metabolites (Erb et al., 2015; Erb & Reymond, 2019). Since indole compounds are involved in a variety of plant functions, they are considered key factors in determining plant fitness (Cerboneschi et al., 2016; Cna'ani et al., 2018). Therefore, the exploitation of indole-based signalling for the manipulation of plant-insect interactions has drawn significant attention from agricultural scientists. Indole is also a substrate for IAA, a well-studied plant hormone that can be synthesized by plants as well as rhizobacteria, and influences plant growth (Yu & Lee, 2013; Bhattacharyya et al., 2015). Several reviews have considered bacterial IAA and its role in plant physiology in detail (Cerboneschi et al., 2016; Leyser, 2018; Blázquez, Nelson & Weijers, 2020).

(6) Role of indoles in the healthspan of eukaryotes

Indole-producing microbes have been reported to extend the healthspan (the length of time that organisms are healthy, not just alive) of a wide range of non-chordates (C. elegans, Drosophila melanogaster) and chordates (e.g. mice) (Sonowal et al., 2017). The conserved AhR ligands seem to play a crucial role, not only in detecting the xenobiotic compounds but also in identifying and relaying signals that induce genes responsible for oogenesis, thereby extending fecundity and reproductive span in worms (Sonowal et al., 2017). Indoleregulated genes showing healthspan augmentation in C. elegans were quite different from those involved with longevity (Sonowal et al., 2017). Chronic, low-grade inflammation occurs as part of the aging process and contributes to the pathogenesis of age-related diseases and consequent frailty. Geriatric mice lose goblet cells that protect the gut epithelium by secreting mucin. This may be a consequence of decreased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-10 (IL-10), or impairment of the intestinal barrier's ability to reject inflammatory antigens (Powell et al., 2020). Indole-3-carboxaldehyde secreted by the intestinal microbiota was found to increase IL-10 levels via the AhR and restore depleted goblet cells independent of type-I IFN or IL-22 signalling (Powell et al., 2020).

Indoles produced by commensal bacteria show protective effects against stressors in mice. Aged mice colonized with *E. coli* K12 showed better body mass maintenance and improved survival with higher urinary levels of I3S compared to controls (Sonowal *et al.*, 2017). The positive effect of indoles was seen in both geriatric and young mice. While the positive influence of indole compounds on the gut immune system is largely through the AhR, the extension of healthspan cannot be explained solely through the AhR pathway and this requires further research.

These few studies suggest a therapeutic role for indoles in limiting age-associated systemic inflammation and establishing epithelial homeostasis associated with aging (Powell *et al.*, 2020). Indoles could thus be an attractive alternative to faecal transplants, oral probiotic treatments, and other dietary interventions. However, the augmentation of bioactive indole *via* the diet or its exogenous administration and any effects of this on the extension of human healthspan or reduction of frailty in humans remains to be investigated. Variation in gut microbiota according to dietary habits, race, and geographical region are likely to complicate such studies. Metabolomic studies, focused on the identification of compounds linked with longitudinal changes in inflammatory markers, would be helpful in elucidating the underlying mechanisms involved in aging.

III. FUNCTIONAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN GUT INDOLES AND DIFFERENT ORGANS

Indole and indole-containing compounds (both natural and synthetic) are known to influence AhR-mediated signalling activities (Seok et al., 2018; Stepankova et al., 2018; McCarville et al., 2020; Vyhlídalová et al., 2020). Due to the absence of the shikimate pathway in animals, the diet and microbiota are the primary sources of indole. Several indole-based AhR ligands are generated in the stomach due to the action of gastric acid on glucobrassicin (Hubbard et al., 2015a). Most of the tryptophan generated through proteolytic activities is absorbed in the small intestine and transported to various organs for conversion to endogenous AhR ligands such as xanthurenic acid, kynurenine, and kynurenic acid (Hubbard et al., 2015b; Roager & Licht, 2018). However, significant quantities of tryptophan do reach the colon, where it is metabolized by gut microbes, which then release indole and indole derivatives such as IAA, indole-3-aldehvde, indole-3-lactic acid, indole-3-propionic acid, skatole, tryptamine, and tryptanthrin (Roager & Licht, 2018).

Human faeces may contain at least 2770 prokaryotic species classified into 11 different phyla, the majority (>90%) of which belong to Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, and Actinobacteria (Cryan et al., 2019). More than 85 bacterial species are known to produce indole in large quantities (Lee & Lee, 2010). Their involvement has been established in the body's inflammatory response, blood pressure, neurological functions, multiple sclerosis, neuroprotection in Alzheimer's disease, oxidative stress in the ischemic hippocampus, immune system, and behaviour as well as in the healthspan of higher eukaryotes (Karu et al., 2016; Cheng et al., 2018; Roager & Licht, 2018; Konopelski et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2021). Germ-free mouse models have been used to understand the role of microbes in host physiology. Indole and indole-3-propionic acid are agonists to the receptors AhR and PXR, respectively (Vyhlídalová et al., 2020) (Table 2). Activation of these sensors also activates the transcription of drug-metabolizing cytochromes P450 (CYPs) such as CYP1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP3A4. Some indole compounds, such as indole-3-propionic acid, have been found only after intestinal colonization by Clostridium sporogenes (Wikoff et al., 2009). In patients with active colitis, reduced levels of indole-3-propionic acid provide evidence for its protective effect against intestinal inflammation (Alexeev et al., 2018). Recently, indole-3-lactic acid was reported to function as an AhR agonist, increasing nerve growth factorinduced neurite outgrowth plausibly via the extracellular kinase (Ras/ERK) pathway signal-regulated Wong et al., 2020). Skatole can be inhaled in significant quantities during cigarette smoking and can function as a pulmonary toxin. It induces AhR-regulated genes (e.g. CYP1A1) in human bronchial cells (Rasmussen et al., 2016).

Tryptophan and its metabolites, usually considered as building-blocks of proteins, thus represent an important group of metabolites that orchestrate host physiology by various mechanisms (Agus *et al.*, 2018; Roager & Licht, 2018). Crosstalk between gut indole metabolites and the host organs *via* the gut–kidney, gut–liver, gut–brain, and gut–immune axes significantly influences the initiation and/or progression of several metabolic disorders, some of which are discussed below.

(1) Gut-immune axis

Microbial activity in the mammalian intestine results in a large repertoire of bioactive metabolites that influence the mucosal immune system. A recent study showed that four Clostridium species and Peptostreptococcus anaerobius encode phenyllactate dehydratase, an enzyme that catalyses the production of indole-3-propionic acid from tryptophan (Dodd et al., 2017). Subsequently, the tryptophan metabolic pathways of C. sporogenes were manipulated to demonstrate that indole-3-propionic acid decreases intestinal permeability and regulates intestinal homeostasis plausibly via the PXR and TLR4 pathway (Venkatesh et al., 2014; Dodd et al., 2017). The regulation of PXR, itself an essential regulator of TLR4-mediated intestinal barrier function (innate immunity and its response to xenobiotic injury), is intrinsically linked with gut microbiota-derived indole metabolites such as indole-3-propionic acid (Venkatesh et al., 2014). Besides indole-3-propionic acid, indole-3-aldehyde produced by Lactobacilli inhibits the colonization of Candida albicans and protects from mucosal inflammation via AhR recognition (Zelante et al., 2013). The AhR-dependent increase in IL-22 expression provides mucosal protection from inflammation via the host innate immune system. Involvement of IL-18 as a cross-regulator of IL-22 production suggests the regulation of both innate as well as adaptive immunity by microbial indole-3-aldehyde (Borghi et al., 2019). Skin microbiota also produces indole-3-aldehyde that works in an AhR-dependent manner and attenuates skin inflammation by inhibiting the expression of thymic stomal lymphopoietin in keratinocytes (Yu et al., 2019). Another indole derivative produced by Lactobacillus, indole-3-lactic acid, activates AhR, downregulates the transcriptional factor

Th inducing POZ-Kruppel factor (Thpok), and reprograms intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs, $CD4^+$ T cells) into double-positive IELs (CD8aa⁺CD4⁺) in mice (Cervantes-Barragan *et al.*, 2017). Thus, a single bacterial species (*Lactobacillus reuteri*) can reprogram intraepithelial CD4⁺ T cells into immunoregulatory T cells, although other microbes, diet, or self-antigens would be required for the expansion of the T cell receptor repertoire among CD4⁺ IELs that convert to double-positive IELs (Cervantes-Barragan *et al.*, 2017).

Other indole derivatives were anticipated to possess similar effects, however, this AhR-mediated T-cell activation is distinct from those where the AhR influences T-cells with regulatory functions, intraepithelial $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and dendritic cells (Cervantes-Barragan *et al.*, 2017). The microbiota–AhR axis thus represents a unique strategy in which coevolving commensals can fine-tune host mucosal reactivity contingent on tryptophan catabolism (Zelante *et al.*, 2013). High salt consumption has been suggested to influence the gut–immune axis *via* T helper 17 (TH17) cells and a reduction in the *Lactobacillus* spp. population (Wilck *et al.*, 2017).

Another metabolite, 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT or serotonin), which has immunoregulatory functions, is a key neurotransmitter, a potent secretagogue, and an important regulatory factor that mediates intestinal motility and secretion (Wishart, 2019). 5-HT secreted by enterochromaffin cells (ECs) also plays a role in modulating the immune system by communicating through its cognate receptors present in immune cells (both innate and adaptive) such as dendritic cells, lymphocytes, and macrophages. The significant role of the gut microbiota on serum 5-HT levels was recently established when gnotobiotic germ-free mice exhibited significantly lowered serum 5-HT levels compared to colonized mice (Yano et al., 2015). Endogenous bacteria can enhance the synthesis of 5-HT in colonic ECs, releasing it to the mucosa and lumen (Yano et al., 2015). Indeed E. coli, Streptococcus spp. and Corynebacterium spp. can convert tryptophan to 5-HT in vivo while other bacteria (e.g. Bacteroides fragilis and Bacteroides uniformis) are known to affect 5-HT levels in serum as well as in the colon (Yano et al., 2015). Microbial alteration of 5-HT can regulate the gut microenvironment. For example, disturbance to the enteric flora can result in an imbalance of 5-HT levels while supplementation of probiotics reverses this effect. Therefore, gutmicrobial eubiosis is a preferred approach to manage peripheral 5-HT levels and consequently disease symptoms. Another indole-containing compound, melatonin, is also synthesized from tryptophan by gut mucosa ECs. Due to its immunomodulatory effects, particularly the regulation of TH17 cell differentiation, melatonin is considered a potent compound for the treatment of IBD (Esteban-Zubero et al., 2017). Therefore, a deeper understanding of the way indole derivatives regulate the immune system may lead to the identification of novel targets for intervention in diseases such as IBD.

(2) Gut-kidney axis and kidney disease

The gut-kidney axis is associated with chronic kidney disease (CKD) and acute kidney injury. An association of

gut microbes with comorbidities in CKD has been demonstrated: CKD patients showed a higher population of *Enterobacteria* and lower *Bifidobacteria* (correlating with higher faecal indole and serum I3S levels) (Ellis *et al.*, 2016). Colonic indole levels can influence portal and arterial blood pressure, while higher doses (1000 mg/kg body mass) result in toxic tubulopathy and renal hyperemia in rats (Huć *et al.*, 2018*a*, 2018*b*). Gut microbial metabolism can generate uremic toxins among which IAA and I3S are notoriously associated with CKD (Yeh *et al.*, 2016; Chen *et al.*, 2019*b*). IAA and I3S are common effectors influencing the physiology of the kidney and other end-organ toxicity (Dou *et al.*, 2015; Ellis *et al.*, 2016; Shen *et al.*, 2016) (Fig. 1).

These uremic solutes (IAA and I3S) activate inflammation and induce endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress. I3S is a co-metabolite of indole synthesized by hepatic enzymes in the host liver. Normally I3S is excreted in the urine, but its steady accumulation is linked to the progression of renal dysfunction (Ochi et al., 2015). Due to its affinity for albumin, its removal by haemodialysis is difficult. In acute kidney injury, I3S enhances the expression of IL-1β-induced E-selectin by the ROS-mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs)-nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB)- activator protein 1 (AP-1) pathway (Shen et al., 2016). In the human hepatoma HepG2 cell line, the expression of fetuin-A was suppressed by I3S via AhR. I3S also induced p38 MAPK phosphorylation and ROS production (Ochi et al., 2015). Therefore, serum levels of IAA and I3S can be used to follow the cardiovascular events and predict mortality in CKD patients (Zgoda-Pols et al., 2011; Dou et al., 2015).

Since I3S is an endogenous AhR ligand (Table 2), it suppresses hepatic fetuin-A expression thereby raising the risk of cardiovascular damage and mortality in dialysis patients (Ochi et al., 2015). I3S is a protein-bound uremic toxin associated with glucose intolerance and promotes vascular calcification through the liver X-receptor (LXR) signalling pathway and glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) expression (Kappel & Federici, 2019). Based on in vitro, in vivo, and clinical data, several routes by which I3S can influence the progression of CKD have been identified (Ellis et al., 2016; Wishart, 2019; Chen et al., 2019b). Higher levels of inflammatory biomarkers (IL-6 and glutathione peroxidase) in CKD patients were found to be associated with I3S (Chen et al., 2019b), while low urinary levels of I3S after transplantation were indicative of microbial dysbiosis and a higher risk of graft-versus-host-disease (Weber et al., 2015). Since indoles are largely produced by gut microbes, pre- and probiotics could provide a useful approach to reduce uremic toxins (I3S, p-cresyl sulfate and IAA). A trial investigation involving combined prebiotic and probiotic treatments resulted in lower levels of uremic toxins. Similarly, serum levels of I3S were reduced by the oral administration of p-inulin (Chen et al., 2019b).

It is essential to note that a reduction of protein in the diet could be effective in reducing serum levels of uremic toxins but may not prove an efficient preventive measure since bacteria can synthesize tryptophan. The gut microbial composition controls the level of uremic toxins (I3S and *p*-cresyl sulfate) in plasma. Vancomycin treatment selectively changes the composition of the gut microbiome with a concomitant decline in I3S levels (Nazzal *et al.*, 2017) and indoles influence antibiotic resistance and bacterial persistence (Lee *et al.*, 2010; Lee *et al.*, 2016). Thus, the use of antibiotics could represent an important strategy in reducing uremic toxin levels; however, indiscriminate use of such drugs may lead to dysbiosis with potentially harmful results. In contrast to uremic toxins, another indole metabolite, indole-3-propionic acid suppresses kidney fibrosis induced by I3S (Yisireyili *et al.*, 2017), and protects renal function, possibly due to its antioxidant and hydroxyl radical scavenging activity (Sun *et al.*, 2019*a*).

(3) Crosstalk between gut indoles and the liver

In recent years, gut microbes have emerged as regulators of liver physiology via the gut-liver axis. Apart from the gut, the liver is the organ with most exposure to microbial metabolites. Gut dysbiosis in patients with alcoholic hepatitis is associated with liver inflammation. In fact, the regulation of intestinal barrier function plays a key role in the interaction between gut microbes and the liver (Beaumont et al., 2018). Among the tryptophan-derived indole compounds generated in the gut, levels of indole are higher (millimolar concentrations) than those of other indolics (<10 μ M) (Delzenne et al., 2019). Nevertheless, their ability to control mucosal immunity and intestinal permeability apparently limits the translocation of harmful microbial components [e.g. lipopolysaccharides (LPS)] from the gut to the liver. Oral administration of indole prevents inflammation, alleviates LPS-induced alterations of cholesterol metabolism, and regulates the expression of liver X receptors in mice (Delzenne et al., 2019), suggesting that indole could be used in the treatment of liver inflammatory disorders. Ex vivo, indole also reduces hepatic inflammation in LPS-treated livers of genetically obese mice (Delzenne et al., 2019). Although indole and indole co-metabolites can modulate AhR activation (Table 2), only indole has a demonstrated ability to reduce hepatic inflammation (Beaumont et al., 2018). There is a known correlation between a highfat diet and the caecal and hepatic concentration of indole metabolites, possibly due to gut microbial metabolism. Supplementation of L. reuteri can reverse hepatic metabolic alterations in an AhR-dependent manner (Krishnan et al., 2018; Delzenne et al., 2019). Circulating levels of indole can be an indicator of liver fat content in human subjects, and was found to be inversely correlated with body mass index. Administration of indole to animals on a high-fat diet significantly reduced hepatic steatosis and inflammation (Ma et al., 2020). Experiments conducted on different cell cultures further revealed that indole treatment reduces fat deposition and proinflammatory responses (Ma et al., 2020). Human hepatocytes show AhR-dependent increases in CYP1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP1B1 expression after treatment with skatole (a partial AhR agonist) demonstrating that liver



Fig 1. Roles of gut microbe-derived indoles in human physiology. Gut microbes regulate the biosynthesis of a range of indole compounds using dietary tryptophan. The microbial indole metabolites include indole, indole-3-acetic acid, indole-3-lactic acid, indole-3-propionic acid, indole-3-aldehyde, etc. Local effects of these indoles include induction of goblet cells to produce mucin, activation of immune cells in the lamina propria of the gut, and signalling intestinal cells to secrete antimicrobial peptides. Consequently, indoles prevent colonization of pathogens (i.e. dysbiosis), reduce gut permeability through tight junctions, inhibit inflammation via the release of anti-inflammatory cytokines, and maintain gut homeostasis. Indole also modulates secretion of incretin hormone (GLP-1) by enteroendocrine L cells hence having a role in microbial indole in host appetite, nutrient absorption and glucose metabolism. Indoles reach systemic organs through the circulatory system where host enzymes (mostly in the liver) may convert them into other bioactive compounds. For example, indoxyl-3-sulphate (I3S) and indole-3-acetic acid are considered uremic toxins that can cause kidney damage. By contrast, indole-3-propionic acid acts as an antioxidant, counteracting the negative effects of uremic toxins. In addition, indole-3-propionic acid helps in neurite outgrowth, and indole compounds function as a neuroprotectant. AMPs, antimicrobial peptides and proteins; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine; AroP: aromatic amino acid transport protein; CYP, cytochrome; EC, enterochromaffin cell; EHEC enterohemorrhagic E. coli; GLP-1, glucagon-like peptide 1; IAA, indole-3-acetic acid; IaaM, tryptophan monooxygenase; IaaH, indole-3-acetamide hydrolase; IAld, indole-3-aldehyde; IL, interleukin; ILA, indole-3-lactic acid; ILC3, type 3 innate lymphoid cells; IFN, interferon; IPA, indole-3-propionic acid; I3S, indoxyl-3-sulfate; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; Mø, macrophage; Mtr, tryptophan-specific permease; NFKB, nuclear factor-kappa B; PTGS2, prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2; ROS, reactive oxygen species; Tna, tryptophanase; Treg, regulatory T cells; VEGFA, vascular endothelial growth factor.

homeostasis can be regulated by gut metabolites *via* the AhR pathway (Table 2) (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2016). It has been suggested that indole-mimetic activation could be a viable therapeutic approach for the treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)-associated inflammation.

Microbial indole is transported *via* the portal vein and regulates hepatic physiology. Hepatic enzymes [cytochrome P450 (CYPE2E1) and sulfotransferase (SULT1A1)] convert indole to I3S (Yisireyili *et al.*, 2017; Delzenne *et al.*, 2019). A study carried out with germ-free mice demonstrated the involvement of microbes in the production of I3S and other compounds that accumulate in uremia (Wikoff *et al.*, 2009). Tryptophanase catalyses the formation of indole, which is absorbed and sulfated by the liver (Wong *et al.*, 2014). By contrast, IAA reduces the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines [tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α)], IL-1 β , and

monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1)], messenger RNA (mRNA) levels of lipogenesis proteins, and fatty acid deposition in hepatocytes in vitro by targeting AhR signalling (Krishnan et al., 2018; Delzenne et al., 2019). Indeed, IAA and tryptamine are key metabolites that facilitate the crosstalk between the host and its microbiome. In the intestinal lamina propria, IL-22-producing innate lymphoid cells are recovered by IAA. Eventually, these cells synthesize antimicrobial proteins (e.g. regenerating family member 3 gamma, REG3G) via an AhR-dependent mechanism (Hendrikx & Schnabl, 2019). The exogenous administration of IAA also reduces bacterial translocation to the liver and provides protection against alcoholic steatohepatitis (Hendrikx & Schnabl, 2019). Thus, in addition to the gut-immune axis, microbial indole derivatives also extend protective functions to the liver via the gut-liver axis in inflammatory conditions such as alcoholic and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis.

In addition, indole-3-propionic acid is a known free radical scavenger, protecting neurons and hepatic microsomal membranes from oxidative stress (Dodd *et al.*, 2017; Ji *et al.*, 2019). Metagenomic and metabolomic approaches could delineate the bacterial species capable of producing indole metabolites with proven hepatoprotective effects. To dissect the underlying mechanisms (receptors, effector cells, etc.), large-cohort studies with careful monitoring of the dietary intake of the participants will be necessary.

(4) Microbiota-gut-brain axis

The concept of a microbiota-gut-brain axis has emerged recently through extensive research (Cryan et al., 2019). Increased indole levels in the gut are associated with vagus nerve activation and were shown negatively to influence emotional behaviours in rats (Jaglin et al., 2018). Tryptophan-derived microbial metabolites are involved in the microglial control of astrocytes in the central nervous system (Rothhammer et al., 2016). Isatin (1H-indole-2,3-dione), another microbe-derived indole metabolite, affects anxietylike behaviour in rodents (Jaglin et al., 2018). Although micromolar concentrations of isatin have been observed in the blood and tissues, its exact origin (microbial, or from both host and microbe), and potential impact on the host brain, health, and behaviour remains unclear (Cryan et al., 2019). It has been demonstrated that genes for enzymes involved in indole metabolism by eukaryotes may have arisen from horizontal gene transfer from bacteria, with some such transfers occurring after the divergence of animals from fungi (Cryan et al., 2019). Microbial endocrinology-based media are being established to investigate potential mechanisms by which neuroendocrine signals of microbial origin function in a host-simulated environment. Tryptophan catabolites originating from microbial activity can control intestinal motility and vagal neuronal activation through the receptor transient receptor potential ankyrin A1 (TrpA1) of activated zebrafish (Danio rerio), mouse, and human enteroendocrine cells. They also induce 5-HT secretion in mouse and human (Ye et al., 2021a).

IV. ROLES OF INDOLES IN HUMAN HEALTH AND DISEASE

(1) Microbial indoles in inflammatory bowel disease

The consumption of animal protein in large quantities is associated with dysbiosis and raises the risk of IBD for example in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease (Kurata et al., 2019; Scott, Fu & Chang, 2020; Jing et al., 2021). In animal models and in patients with IBD, the apoptotic rates of intestinal epithelial cells are elevated. Interestingly, during a psychobiotic study conducted at a specific gut location, a mucin-utilizing Peptostreptococcus sp. was found to produce indole-acrylic acid near the gut epithelium and improve barrier function (Wlodarska et al., 2017). The treatment of germ-free mice with indole demonstrated enhanced epithelial tight junction functioning and reduced weight loss in a murine colitis model (Shimada et al., 2013) and similar results were seen in human intestinal epithelial cells (Bansal et al., 2010) (Fig. 1). The nuclear receptor PXR is considered a novel drug target for IBD. In this context, the role of indole-3-propionic acid in regulating intestinal barrier integrity via a PXR-dependent mechanism seems intriguing (Alexeev et al., 2018). Indole-3-propionic acid also acts as an AhR (an essential regulator of gut immunity) agonist that activates AhR and shows antiinflammatory effects in the mouse colitis model (Aoki et al., 2018). The immunomodulatory activity of indole-3-propionic acid in preventing chronic inflammation includes a reduction in T helper (Th1) cytokine levels and enhanced levels of *Il-10* expression in the colon (Aoki et al., 2018). A study conducted on the mouse model of colitis with other microbial indole metabolites (indole-3-aldehyde, indole-3-pyruvate, and indole-3-ethanol) revealed AhR-dependent regulation of intestinal barrier functions. These metabolites maintain the integrity of the apical junctional complex and actin regulatory proteins, including myosin IIA and ezrin (Scott et al., 2020).

Indole metabolites appear to function through AhR and/or PXR-based signalling (Table 2), increase IL-22, IL-10 levels, and enhance mucosal healing by activating innate and adaptive lymphoid cells (Chen *et al.*, 2020). On the contrary, skatole is an inhibitor of CYP11A1, resulting in reduced production of glucocorticoids required for intestinal homeostasis (Gao *et al.*, 2018) (Fig. 1). Skatole is also an agonist to AhR that induces dysfunction and death of intestinal epithelial cells, in addition to activation of p38 (Kurata *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, supplementation of tryptophan or animal protein in IBD patients may not be beneficial (and could be detrimental) if indole or indole-3-propionic acid-producing gut-microbes are not abundant. Further insights towards a better understanding of the effects of microbial indoles on host defence systems may help to identify potential candidates for prophylactic and/or therapeutic treatment for IBD.

(2) Indoles in the progression of diabetes, obesity, and associated ailments

An increasing amount of evidence from studies on murine models and human subjects has suggested that intestinal dysbiosis is linked to diabetes and obesity. The crosstalk between gut microbe-derived indole and intestinal enteroendocrine L cells modulates the secretion of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), an anorectic gut hormone (Chimerel *et al.*, 2014). Incretin secretion, which functions in the regulation of appetite, nutrient absorption, and glucose homeostasis and consequent enhancement of GLP-1, is being considered for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. The intricacy of the crosstalk depends on the concentration of indole, and the time period since indole exposure affects intracellular ATP levels (Chimerel *et al.*, 2014). In addition, gut indole levels are highly dependent on the diet, a sugar-rich diet lowers indole synthesis (possibly *via* catabolic repression of tryptophanase) while a protein-rich diet promotes indole production (Chimerel *et al.*, 2014; Lee *et al.*, 2015*b*) (Fig. 1).

Higher indole-3-propionic acid levels were associated with reduced risk of development of type 2 diabetes in a Finnish diabetes prevention study (de Mello et al., 2017), while reduced levels were noticed in obese type 2 diabetes subjects (Jennis et al., 2018). Its antioxidant activity was possibly responsible for protecting pancreatic β -cells from damage due to oxidative and metabolic stress (de Mello et al., 2017). Dietary fibre intake directly influences serum indole-3-propionic acid level, negatively affects high sensitivity C-reactive protein levels (de Mello et al., 2017; Tuomainen et al., 2018) and improves insulin secretion, thereby lowering the risk of type 2 diabetes (Tuomainen et al., 2018). In rat models, indole-3-propionic acid improved glucose metabolism and lower fasting glucose level by 0.42 M, showing its potential in the treatment of metabolic diseases linked to insulin resistance (Abildgaard et al., 2018). The fine-tuning of indole secretion, epithelial PXR, and TLR4 at appropriate levels is important for intestinal barrier function, and they have been linked to the pathogenesis of disease states such as IBD, type 1 diabetes, autism, allergies, asthma, etc. (Venkatesh et al., 2014) and the regulation of endotheliumdependent vasodilation (Pulakazhi Venu et al., 2019). Metabolic endotoxemia (intestinal permeability to bacteria or their products) contributes to several disease pathologies, including type 2 diabetes and obesity. Thus indole (or indole-3-propionic acid)-producing bacteria may be a means to maintain intestinal barrier integrity (Jennis et al., 2018) (Fig. 1).

Low faecal levels of indole compounds in obese individuals reveal low AhR agonist activity (Natividad *et al.*, 2018) similar to mice on high-fat diets, which exhibited reduced caecal and hepatic concentrations of indole, IAA, and tryptamine (Krishnan *et al.*, 2018; Natividad *et al.*, 2018). Indole compounds produced by *L. reuteri* reversed the hepatic alterations by improving incretin secretion and the gut barrier function in diet-induced obese mice (Natividad *et al.*, 2018). Interestingly, when *L. reuteri* was introduced in mouse models, IAA and indole-3-lactic acid were found to stimulate T-cell development and thus help develop intestinal immune tolerance to potential antigens present in the diet (Cervantes-Barragan *et al.*, 2017). Obesity in women can have significant consequences on follicular fluid during the pre-conception period. Due to its antioxidant activity, indole-3-propionic acid levels in the serum and follicular fluid were significantly correlated in obese women. Although because this indole compound can also be produced by microbes within the vagina, further study is necessary to determine the origin of these microbial metabolites (Ruebel *et al.*, 2019). Thus, indole and indoleproducing gut microbes are associated with the progression of metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes and obesity (Jennis *et al.*, 2018). Further *in vivo* studies are desirable to understand the crosstalk between the gut and microbes and its long-term effects on metabolic diseases.

(3) Role of indoles in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

NAFLD is the most common chronic liver disease linked to metabolic syndrome and obesity. The involvement of gut microbes in energy metabolism, the immune system, and insulin resistance suggests that they have a role in the development of NAFLD (Zhou & Fan, 2019). In hepatocytes, cytokine-mediated lipogenesis is alleviated via the AhRdependent activity of IAA (Krishnan et al., 2018). Several clinical studies have indicated that a person with obesity and type 2 diabetes is likely to develop hepatic inflammation and steatosis (Ma et al., 2020). On the other hand, manifestations of type 2 diabetes in patients with NAFLD are common (Ma et al., 2020). In addition to the free radical scavenging activity of indole-3-propionic acid, its supplementation reduces body mass and has a positive impact on glucose metabolism and insulin resistance in rats (Abildgaard et al., 2018; Konopelski et al., 2019). Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis is a subtype of NAFLD that may lead to cirrhosis and even hepatocellular carcinoma. Indole-3-propionic acid has been shown to improve the condition in diet-induced steatohepatitis in rats (Zhao et al., 2019). A higher indole-3-propionic acid level in plasma increases the intestinal barrier function and tissue inflammation via PXR-based signalling whereas obese subjects show lower plasma levels of indole-3-propionic acid (Venkatesh et al., 2014; Jennis et al., 2018).

In humans, indole levels were lower in obese subjects compared to lean individuals, thus exhibiting an inverse correlation between indole and hepatic fat content (Ma et al., 2020). It has also been demonstrated that indoles not only ameliorate steatosis in high-fat-diet mice but also improve gut microbial composition, insulin resistance, and glucose intolerance (Ma et al., 2020). An ex vivo study showed the antiinflammatory activity of indole in obese mice (Beaumont et al., 2018). Further molecular studies have revealed that indole administration reduces lipogenic gene expression, decreasing fat deposition in hepatocytes (Ma et al., 2020). The anti-NAFLD activity of indole was attributed to its ability to suppress lipogenic events (control lipogenic gene expression and transcription activity of sterol regulatory element binding protein-1c) and decrease the proinflammatory response in both macrophages [by stimulating 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase 3 [PFKFB3] expression] and hepatocytes (Ma *et al.*, 2020).

(4) Influence of indoles in cancer

Early studies have shown that skatole and indole levels may serve as indicators of large bowel polyps or cancer with high skatole levels found in cancer patients (Karlin et al., 1985). In this context, the anticancer roles of diet-derived indoles are well documented (Katz, Nisani & Chamovitz, 2018). Indole-3-carbinol present in cruciferous vegetables is a bioactive compound that influences cancer cells (Katz et al., 2018; Martín-Ruiz et al., 2018). The dimerization of indole-3-carbinol during digestion results in another bioactive compound, 3,3'-diindolylmethane, that has shown potential in the treatment of prostate and breast cancer (Pondugula et al., 2015). Microbial indoles such as indole, tryptamine, IAA, and I3S can modulate AhR activity (Table 2) and have shown AhR-dependent responses in human colon cancer (CaCo2) cells and mouse hepatoma cells (Heath-Pagliuso et al., 1998; Schroeder et al., 2010; Jin et al., 2014). Upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 activity has been linked to escape of malignant cells from the immune system. Tryptamine inhibits indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 and increases immune surveillance and therefore is a main target in interventions to immune escape of malignant cells (Gao et al., 2018). However, these microbial metabolites showed complex patterns of AhR activity (ligand- and genedependent agonist/antagonist) in young adult mouse colonocytes, possibly due to species-specific variations in AhR (Cheng et al., 2015; Hubbard et al., 2016). Selective AhR modulation by indoles will need to be studied further (preferably on human cell lines and patients) to understand the *in vivo* effects of these compounds and predict their anticancer effects on the host.

(5) Atherosclerosis progression and its association with indoles

Atherosclerosis is a condition in which fats, cholesterol, calcium, and other substances accumulate in arterial walls, resulting in reduced blood flow to the tissues. Oxidative stress and chronic inflammation are the two main mechanisms in atherosclerosis that lead to cardiovascular disease (Dou et al., 2015). Enhanced production of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) in cultured endothelial cells treated with IAA supports the view that the COX-2/ PGE2 axis is involved in atherosclerotic lesion formation (Dou et al., 2015). A targeted metabolomic study of gut microbe-derived metabolites showed that indole, indole-3-propionic acid, and indole-3-aldehyde are associated with advanced atherosclerosis. Indole-3-propionic acid, and indole-3-aldehyde levels were low in atherosclerotic patients, while the ratios of kynurenine/tryptophan were elevated (Cason et al., 2018). The indole metabolites or their transformants may work as potential modulators of atherosclerosis (Cason et al., 2018). Endotoxins are causal mediators that accelerate atherosclerosis development in rodents, while mice deficient in TLR4 (a receptor for LPS) are more resistant to vascular disease (Kappel & Federici, 2019). Evidence for a reduction in diet-induced atherosclerosis in LDL (low density lipoprotein cholesterol)^{-/-} mice by repression of a bacterial pro-atherogenic metabolite (LPS) through an IL-23–IL-22 axis (Fatkhullina *et al.*, 2018), and indole-based AhR activation through IL-22 to balance mucosal reactivity (Zelante *et al.*, 2013) indicate that indoles have a certain protective role in atherosclerosis *via* AhR activation and IL-22. A correlation with cholesterol has not been reported to date, and the role of indole pathway in the regulation of cholesterolemia needs further investigation (Villette *et al.*, 2020).

In addition to AhR, another xenobiotic sensor, PXR, is associated with atherosclerosis in humans and mice (Kappel et al., 2020). In a mouse colitis model, indole-3-propionic acid activates PXR and regulates gastrointestinal barrier function (Venkatesh et al., 2014), while in a rat steatohepatitis model administration of indole-3-propionic acid reduces endotoxin leakage and gut dysbiosis, a mechanism associated with atherosclerosis (Zhao et al., 2019). By contrast, detrimental effects of PXR or AhR activation were observed in apolipoprotein E (apoE)-deficient mice (representative of accelerated atherosclerosis), whereas deficiency of PXR or loss of AhR reduced atherosclerosis in apoE^{-/-} mice and protected against vascular aging (Kappel et al., 2020). The influence of AhR and PXR activation on the vascular system thus remains obscure as it depends both on the agonist type as well as the species being studied (Zelante et al., 2013; Hubbard et al., 2015a; Kappel et al., 2020). Loss of gut microbial diversity and alterations in their metabolic functions are linked to increased atherosclerosis post-antibiotic treatment (Kappel et al., 2020). Populations of Akkermansia, Collinsella, Eubacterium, Roseburia, Ruminococcus, and other bacteria are altered in the gut of diseased subjects, leading to dysbiosis (Jennis et al., 2018; Kappel & Federici, 2019). A reduction in Bacteroidetes and Clostridia by antibiotics was associated with diminished tryptophan and disturbed lipid metabolism. The exact molecular targets of microbial indoles affecting atherosclerosis and its end-stage complications are yet to be elucidated (Kappel et al., 2020).

V. INDOLIC METABOLITES AS BIOMARKERS OF DISEASE

Proteolytic fermentation occurs primarily in the distal part of the colon leading to the production of ammonia, hydrogen sulfide, branched-chain fatty acids, and phenolic and indolic compounds. Studies in animals and humans on these metabolites suggest varied roles in gut integrity and metabolic health (Canfora *et al.*, 2019). The animal data also suggest a valuable role of indole on gut barrier (Shimada *et al.*, 2013; Venkatesh *et al.*, 2014) and liver function (Beaumont *et al.*, 2018; Hendrikx & Schnabl, 2019).

Mounting evidence has revealed that gut microbial metabolism of dietary nutrients significantly influences host physiology. The gut microbial population consists of as many as 2770 microbial taxa, whose composition varies among different individuals (Chappell et al., 2016; Cryan et al., 2019). Of these, beneficial microbes play a key role in eubiosis, maintain the gut microenvironment, and produce 0.3-6.6 mM of indole. A threshold concentration of >2.5 mM faecal indole was found to reduce the risk of Cryptosporidium infection (Chappell et al., 2016). A gut lumen rich in microbes contains higher levels of indole than the epithelium, where it is absorbed by colonic epithelia via passive diffusion (Hubbard et al., 2015a; Kumar & Sperandio, 2019). This indole concentration gradient was found to be important for pathogenic colonization of the gut (Darkoh et al., 2019). It has been suggested that supplementation of indole-producing bacteria such as Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron increases the indole levels and reduces the expression of virulence genes of pathogens (Kumar & Sperandio, 2019).

Therefore, the abundance of indole compounds in the gut is often evaluated as a biomarker in clinical specimens and has various applications in the pharmaceutical industry (Darkoh *et al.*, 2015). A targeted metabolomics study to identify the role of microbial metabolites in advanced atherosclerosis patients showed that the plasma levels of these metabolites (indole and phenyl derivatives) are correlated with postoperative outcomes, thereby suggesting that these compounds may serve as biomarkers in atherosclerosis (Table 3) (Cason *et al.*, 2018; Biscetti *et al.*, 2019).

A similar study conducted on mice to identify biomarkers for acute kidney injury revealed that I3S is a sensitive marker of nicotinic acid receptor agonist-induced renal toxicity in mice (Zgoda-Pols et al., 2011). Indeed, higher levels of I3S in plasma and brain but not in the urine suggest the involvement of I3S in renal- and central nervous system-associated toxicity (Zgoda-Pols et al., 2011). Intestinal conversion of tryptophan to I3S and the host-microbe relationship seems to be important in the development of chemical-induced toxicity in mice (Zgoda-Pols et al., 2011). I3S is a protein-bound uremic toxin found in the serum of individuals with CKD and is difficult to remove by dialysis. This indole metabolite is also associated with glucose intolerance and promotes vascular calcification by the diminished expression of GLUT1 and LXR signalling (Kappel & Federici, 2019). Lower levels of I3S after allogeneic stem cell transplantation were identified as an indirect indicator of microbial dysbiosis in the gut (Table 3) (Weber et al., 2015). Patients with a higher proportion of commensal bacteria showed better survival outcomes post-transplantation, establishing that gut microbeassociated I3S production has an important role in transplant-related mortality (Weber et al., 2015).

The complex interplay of indole compounds also has relevance in cognitive impairment *via* the gut–brain axis. Indole-3-acetic acid and I3S are representative candidate markers of cognitive impairment (Lin *et al.*, 2019*a*). Serum IAA levels are also associated with cognitive performance and cognitive impairment in patients experiencing chronic haemodialysis (Lin *et al.*, 2019*a*). I3S is known to induce oxidative stress and apoptosis in astrocytes by the MAPK pathway, revealing its involvement in the pathophysiology of dementia (Lin *et al.*, 2019*b*).

Another indole metabolite, indole-3-propionic acid, was considered to serve as a key biomarker and renal protector in the progression of CKD (Sun et al., 2019a) and it was identified as a biosignature to discriminate and predict pre-onset and progression of Alzheimer's disease (Wu et al., 2021). Indole-3-propionic acid is involved in fibrosis and inhibition of genes associated with inflammation in proximal tubular cells, while it also gives protection to hepatic microsomal membranes against iron-induced damage in cancer (Sarode et al., 2019). Indole-3-propionic acid also attenuates arsenicand copper-mediated cellular and mitochondrial DNA damage. Therefore, lower serum levels of indole-3-propionic acid in Wilson disease were considered indicative of compromised cellular defences (Sarode et al., 2019). Recently, indole-3-propionic acid levels in the serum and follicular fluid of women were referred to as biomarkers that reflect the antioxidant status of the follicular environment and its interaction with gut metabolism (Table 3) (Ruebel et al., 2019). Additionally, microbial metabolites including indoles could be used as a biosignature, alterations of which would be helpful in indicating prenatal alcohol exposure (Virdee et al., 2021). Indole-3-propionic acid was also found to be associated with type 2 diabetes and negatively associated with low-grade inflammation (de Mello et al., 2017). The ability of indole-3-propionic acid to ameliorate chemically induced murine colitis apparently via epithelial IL-10 signalling reveals its potential as a novel therapy in mucosal disease (Alexeev et al., 2018). Thus, indole-3-propionic acid functioned as a biomarker of disease remission in human volunteers with active colitis (Alexeev et al., 2018). Serum indole-3-propionic acid levels were found to be linked with dietary fibre intake and showed better maintenance of β -cell function, suggesting a direct role of diet, gut microbes (Firmicutes/Bacteriodetes), and glucose metabolism (de Mello et al., 2017; Kappel & Federici, 2019).

Low serum levels of indole metabolites could indirectly reveal the physiological status of an individual (Table 3) (Sarode et al., 2019). Besides volatile sulfur compounds, indole/skatole can also be detected in human saliva, where they contribute to malodour (Codipilly & Kleinberg, 2008). The microbes generating indole in the oral cavity include anaerobic Gram-negative bacteria such as Porphyromonas gingivalis, P. intermedia, and Fusobacterium nucleatum (Codipilly & Kleinberg, 2008). Compared to the strong odour of volatile sulfur compounds, indole and skatole are less volatile, due to which their contribution to halitosis is considered minimal. However, a few individuals with halitosis have higher levels of indoles in their breath, making this diagnosis inefficient (Mogilnicka, Bogucki & Ufnal, 2020). New methods now make it possible to detect indoles in biological samples in a precise and rapid manner in order to predict or assess the physiological state (particularly with respect to tryptophan metabolism) of an individual (Darkoh et al., 2015). While

Compound	Organism (model)	Disease	Detection source	Mechanism	References
Indole	Human	Cryptosporidium infection Clostridium difficile infection	Faeces	Indole-producing gut microbes influenced <i>Cryptosporidium</i> infection Alters intestinal colonization	Chappell et al. (2016) Darkoh et al. (2019)
Indole-3- acetic acid	Human volunteers with chronic kidney disease	Anxiety and depression	Serum	_	Karu <i>et al.</i> (2016)
		Mortality and cardiovascular events		Activated AhR/p38MAPK /NF-kB pathway that induces cyclooxygenase-2, a proinflammatory enzvme	Dou et al. (2015)
Indole- 3-lactic acid	Mouse	Salt-sensitive hypertension and cardiovascular diseases	Faeces	Reduced T helper 17 polarization	Wilck et al. (2017)
Indole-3- propionic	Human	Chronic kidney disease	Serum	Scavenges hydroxyl radicals without generating pro-oxidant intermediates	Sun et al. (2019a)
acid		Wilson disease	Serum	Involved in tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, amino acid metabolism, choline metabolism, and oxidative stress	Sarode <i>et al.</i> (2019)
		Obesity	Serum and follicular fluid	Worked as an antioxidant and was negatively correlated with energy intake and obesity	Ruebel <i>et al.</i> (2019)
		Type 2 diabetes, low-grade inflammation	Serum	Negatively associated with diabetes and inflammation	Tuomainen <i>et al.</i> (2018); de Mello <i>et al.</i> (2017)
	Mouse	Anti-inflammatory	Serum	Pregnane X receptor and Toll-like receptor 4 signalling pathway	Venkatesh et al. (2014)
	Humans and mice with colitis	Colitis	Serum	Indole metabolites worked in anti- inflammatory pathway <i>via</i> epithelial interleukin-10 (IL-10) signalling	Alexeev et al. (2018)
Indoxyl-3- sulfate	Mouse Human	Chemically induced acute kidney injury	Plasma, urine and brain	Involved in renal- and central nervous system-related toxicity	Zgoda-Pols et al. (2011)
		Gastrointestinal (GI) graft-versus-host- disease	Urine	Prognostic indicator of dysbiosis and higher risk of disease	Weber <i>et al.</i> (2015)
Indole and indole- derivatives	Human	Atherosclerosis	Plasma	Associated with atherosclerosis and postoperative cardiac complications	Cason <i>et al.</i> (2018)

Table 3. Indole metabolites as biomarkers in various diseases

AhR, Aryl hydrocarbon receptor; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; NF-kB, nuclear factor kappa B.

several findings suggest that indole metabolites can be used as biomarkers of microbial dysbiosis, atherosclerosis, CKD, type 2 diabetes, and colitis, their exact levels are yet to be medically delineated.

VI. THE EXPLOITATION OF INDOLES FOR THERAPEUTIC PURPOSES

Indoles and indole metabolites have wide implications in human disease diagnosis, progression, and remission. Administration of indole-3-propionic acid is potent in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, modulates gut microbial composition, and inhibits dysbiosis (Zhao *et al.*, 2019). Similarly, indoleacrylic acid, produced by commensal bacteria (*Peptostreptococcus* sp.), promotes the functioning of the gut epithelial barrier and mitigates the inflammatory response, suggesting that higher levels of indoleacrylic acid in the gut could offer therapeutic benefits (Wlodarska *et al.*, 2017). Indole metabolites, through type I interferon, help to control gut inflammation, and damage associated with myeloablative chemotherapy, providing a therapeutic option for patients following bone marrow transplant, who are at risk of graftversus-host disease (Swimm *et al.*, 2018; Qayed *et al.*, 2021). Recently, the therapeutic effects of indole-3-propionic acid against radiation toxicity were demonstrated at a molecular level using faecal microbiota transplantation in mice exposed to radiation (Xiao *et al.*, 2020). Indole-3-propionic acid alleviated inflammation, catabatic myelosuppression, and improved epithelial integrity in treated mice. *In vitro* and *in vivo* assays indicate the involvement of PXR/acyl-CoAbinding protein signalling in indole-3-propionic aciddependent radioprotection (Xiao *et al.*, 2020). A conjugate of indole-3-propinic acid (linked with 5-aminonicotinic acid) mitigated colonic damage and inflammation (Lee *et al.*, 2021). These findings open the possibility of microbiome-based therapies for radioactive damage. Microbial metabolites could also be used directly as an effective succedaneum to mitigate acute radiation syndrome.

Similarly, supplementation of indole-3-aldehyde (stimulates AhR-mediated IL-22 production) promotes IL-18 expression and prevents infection in murine vulvovaginal candidiasis (Borghi et al., 2019). Due to the role of indoles in immunomodulation via stabilization of regulatory T cells (Treg cells), they can be exploited as microbial-metabolitederived therapies (Steinmeyer et al., 2017) (Fig. 1). Moreover, skatole can induce some cytochrome P450s (involved in drug metabolism) via an AhR-mediated mechanism in the liver suggesting a role in the bioavailability of drugs and their metabolism (Rasmussen et al., 2016). However, further study is required to understand the behaviour of indole as an AhR antagonist or weak agonist/partial antagonist (Steinmeyer et al., 2017). The deeper our understanding of gut metabolite cues and their roles in physiological functions, the better we can design cellular therapeutics and personalized treatments.

The indole moiety itself can be exploited as a versatile molecular scaffold in drug design. Microorganisms have been used as biocatalysts and therefore are considered as a modern tool in chemistry. The capacity of Aspergillus niger and Beauveria bassiana to modify 3-indolylacetonitrile and tryptamine into 3-methylindole, and 5-hydroxyindole-3-acetamide, respectively indicates that both reduction and oxidation of the indoles are possible using biocatalysts (Boaventura, Lopes & Takahashi, 2004). The use of microbes to carry out reactions in the indole nucleus of serotonin is industrially important. 5-hydroxytryptamine also improves the activity of amphotericin B against Aspergillus fumigatus in vitro (Heller et al., 2004). The combination of biogenic amines with existing drugs may be used for novel medical applications. Some natural and synthetic indole derivatives recently have been compiled, revealing diverse therapeutic applications (Chadha & Silakari, 2017) while there are thousands of indoles yet to be investigated.

Metabolite mimics of indole have been used to understand the structure–activity relationships with its target receptors and to develop novel therapeutics. Two potent antiinflammatory compounds (FKK5 and FKK6) were designed to target intestinal inflammation by interacting with PXR (Dvořák *et al.*, 2020). When FKK6 was further modified using an imidazolopyridyl residue, the agonist activity shifted from PXR to AhR (Li *et al.*, 2021). The indole moiety-containing catabolites of tryptophan were checked for their activity towards AhR and PXR using a reporter gene assay (Illés *et al.*, 2020; Vyhlídalová *et al.*, 2020). Such information is important to understand the affinity of these metabolites against different receptors so that further metabolite mimics can be designed with higher efficacy. Metabolite mimicry is a new concept but follows a similar philosophy to target-ing/blocking the activity of a protein by using known natural compounds as a scaffold. The establishment of a screening method provides us with hope that one or a mixture of such mimics may be used for therapeutic purposes, although more *in vivo* studies and demonstrations will be required.

For the removal of uremic toxins, prebiotics, probiotics, and carbon adsorbents (e.g. AST-120 and Sevelamer (a non-calcium phosphate binder)] were used in a clinical study with CKD patients (Dou et al., 2015; Takkavatakarn et al., 2021). Interestingly, with a large cohort of CKD patients, oral treatment with AST-120 reduced serum I3S levels yet resulted in no improvement in renal outcome and disease progression (Chen et al., 2019a). This contrasts with the common understanding of uremic toxins and indicates that increased I3S levels could indeed be a result of uremia rather than a driver. However, another adsorbent, Sevelamer, has been used successfully in the treatment of CKD for more than a decade (Dou et al., 2015). The absence of a positive treatment outcome using AST-120 highlights the complex pathophysiology of CKD and potentially the ineffectiveness of removing a single uraemic toxin (Massy & Liabeuf, 2018), and warrants further study to identify the exact role of I3S in renal disease.

VII. SIGNIFICANCE AND OUTLOOK

The ubiquitous presence of microbes in all environments make the exchange of metabolites and even of genetic materials inevitable. The potential acquisition of the *tnaA* gene from a bacterial donor (Entamoeba histolytica) via horizontal gene transfer (Loftus et al., 2005), and the exchange of indole metabolites as growth-promoting hormones (in the diatom Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries) could provide survival advantages to the recipients (Matthews et al., 2020). An interesting role of indole has been reported recently, where secretion of indole by the commensal bacterium (Aquitalea sp.) of planarians impacts axial and head patterning of Dugesia japonica during regeneration (Williams et al., 2020). RNA-sequencing data has revealed that indole alters the expression of patterning genes, including those involved in the Wnt signalling pathway. Such regulation of the regeneration process and the host's anatomical structure, by a metabolite secreted by its commensal bacteria is an example of the unique role played by indole. Such examples provide support for the holobiont theory that suggests co-evolution with microbes and emphasizes an understanding of the complex multipartner interactions occurring in the holobiont. In addition to recent evidence about the involvement of microbial indole metabolites in the differentiation of planaria, the egg-laving

behaviour of *C. elegans*, in byssal thread production in molluscs, insect behaviour, plant defences, human gut–organ axes and diseases, it is likely that similarly unique functions of this abundant nitrogenous compound in the life of other eukaryotes remain to be discovered.

The unique behaviour of indole in cell-to-cell communication can lead to hormesis (low-dose stimulation and highdose inhibition) as observed for algae and human cells (Sun et al., 2019b). Since indole has diverse roles in different eukaryotes (as discussed above) it may be considered an archetypal hormone (Lee et al., 2007). Given that the bioavailability of indole will vary greatly depending on the environment and the associated microbiome, it would be interesting to understand how microbial indoles influence the eukaryotic community, their metabolism, and behaviour. The effective concentration of indole required for its function also varies with the recipient, and in-depth study of the dosedependent functions of microbial indole metabolites is needed before they can be exploited. In particular, aspects of microbial endocrinology, gut-organ axes, holobiont theory, and inter-kingdom interactions should be studied with respect to microbial indole and indole derivatives.

VIII. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) Indole, the metabolite of tryptophan, and indole moiety-containing compounds influence myriad functions in eukaryotes. They serve as signal molecules, growth promoters, effectors, cues, precursors for bioactive compounds, immunomodulators, and activators of defence systems. These nitrogenous compounds are not only important in the nitrogen cycle but are also essential for the whole ecosystem. It is clear that the functionality of indole compounds can differ among different organisms (Table 1).
- (2) The hormetic function of indoles in eukaryotic cells may reflect a primitive communication system between prokaryotes and eukaryotes. In particular, the effects of microbial metabolites on different aspects of the host *via* the gut–organ axes provide support for the holobiont theory suggesting the co-evolution of holobionts.
- (3) Systemic levels of indole metabolites have the potential to serve as diagnostic markers of metabolic disorders and to be indirect indicators of gut health. From the perspective of disease, *in vivo* levels of systemic indoles are related to the dietary supply of tryptophan and the composition of the gut microbiota. The preparation of unique formulations to control systemic levels of these metabolites will be helpful in understanding metabolic disorders. Several synthetic compounds containing an indole moiety or targeting indole metabolites are already being tested for various pharmacological purposes (e.g. AST and Sevelamer). However, complex physiological conditions must be assessed by

'omics studies to identify the exact causative agent(s) before exploiting or targeting indoles. Since other uremic toxins may be of equal importance, the use of AST-120 or other adsorbents may only be appropriate as preventive measures. Detailed understanding of indole compounds is of utmost importance as some are beneficial to health while others may be harmful. Such knowledge may offer a novel dietary-based strategy for the prevention and/or treatment of metabolic diseases.

- (4) Unique indole and indole-based compounds from the marine environment are yet to be explored for bio-technological applications.
- (5) Much remains to be understood regarding the extent of microbial indole production within the gut as well as in the environment. Relatively few research studies are available on ecological and metabolic interactions potentially occurring within multi-partner symbioses. It will be interesting to investigate mutual exchanges involving indole compounds and their influences on the participants of such exchanges.

IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Priority Research Centers Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Education (2014R1A6A1031189) by the Basic Science Research Program through the NRF funded by the Ministry of Education (2021R11IA3A04037486 to J.-H. L), and the NRF grant funded by the Korea government (MSIT) (No. 2021R1A2C1008368).

X. REFERENCES

- ABILDGAARD, A., ELFVING, B., HOKLAND, M., WEGENER, G. & LUND, S. (2018). The microbial metabolite indole-3-propionic acid improves glucose metabolism in rats, but does not affect behaviour. *Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry* 124(4), 306–312.
- AGUS, A., PLANCHAIS, J. & SOKOL, H. (2018). Gut microbiota regulation of tryptophan metabolism in health and disease. *Cell Host & Microbe* 23(6), 716-724.
- ALEXEEV, E. E., LANIS, J. M., KAO, D. J., CAMPBELL, E. L., KELLY, C. J., BATTISTA, K. D., GERICH, M. E., JENKINS, B. R., WALK, S. T., KOMINSKY, D. J. & COLGAN, S. P. (2013). Microbiota-derived indole metabolites promote human and murine intestinal homeostasis through regulation of interleukin-10 receptor. *American Journal of Pathology* 188(5), 1183–1194.
- AOKI, R., AOKI-YOSHIDA, A., SUZUKI, C. & TAKAYAMA, Y. (2018). Indole-3-pyruvic acid, an aryl hydrocarbon receptor activator, suppresses experimental colitis in mice. *Journal of Immunology* **201**(12), 3683–3693.
- AUDRAIN, B., FARAG, M. A., RYU, C.-M. & GHIGO, J.-M. (2015). Role of bacterial volatile compounds in bacterial biology. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* 39(2), 222–233.
- BAILLY, A., GROENHAGEN, U., SCHULZ, S., GEISLER, M., EBERL, L. & WEISSKOPF, L. (2014). The inter-kingdom volatile signal indole promotes root development by interfering with auxin signalling. *Plant Journal* 80(5), 758–771.
- BANSAL, T., ALANIZ, R. C., WOOD, T. K. & JAYARAMAN, A. (2010). The bacterial signal indole increases epithelial-cell tight-junction resistance and attenuates indicators of inflammation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107(1), 228–233.
- BATEN, A., NGANGBAM, A. K., WATERS, D. L. E. & BENKENDORFF, K. (2016). Transcriptome of the australian mollusc *Dicathais orbita* provides insights into the biosynthesis of indoles and choline esters. *Marine Drugs* 14(7), 135.

- BEAUMONT, M., NEYRINCK, A. M., OLIVARES, M., RODRIGUEZ, J., DE ROCCA SERRA, A., ROUMAIN, M., BINDELS, L. B., CANI, P. D., EVENEPOEL, P., MUCCIOLI, G. G., DEMOULIN, J.-B. & DELZENNE, N. M. (2018). The gut microbiota metabolite indole alleviates liver inflammation in mice. *FASEB Journal* 32(12), 6681–6693.
- BHATTACHARYYA, D., GARLADINNE, M. & LEE, Y. H. (2015). Volatile indole produced by rhizobacterium *Proteus vulgaris* JBLS202 stimulates growth of *Arabidopsis thaliana* through auxin, cytokinin, and brassinosteroid pathways. *Journal* of *Plant Growth Regulation* 34(1), 158–168.
- BISCETTI, F., NARDELLA, E., CECCHINI, A. L., LANDOLFI, R. & FLEX, A. (2019). The role of the microbiota in the diabetic peripheral artery disease. *Mediators of Inflammation* **2019**, 4128682.
- BISCHOFF, M., JÜRGENS, A. & CAMPBELL, D. R. (2014). Floral scent in natural hybrids of *Ipomopsis* (Polemoniaceae) and their parental species. *Annals of Botany* 113(3), 533–544.
- BLÁZQUEZ, M. A., NELSON, D. C. & WEIJERS, D. (2020). Evolution of plant hormone response pathways. Annual Review of Plant Biology 71(1), 327–353.
- BOAVENTURA, M. A. D., LOPES, R. F. A. P. & TAKAHASHI, J. A. (2004). Microorganisms as tools in modern chemistry: the biotransformation of 3-indolylacetonitrile and tryptamine by fungi. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology* 35, 345–347.
- BOGNER, C. W., KAMDEM, R. S. T., SICHTERMANN, G., MATTHÄUS, C., HÖLSCHER, D., POPP, J., PROKSCH, P., GRUNDLER, F. M. W. & SCHOUTEN, A. (2017). Bioactive secondary metabolites with multiple activities from a fungal endophyte. *Microbial Biotechnology* 10(1), 175–188.
- BOMMARIUS, B., ANYANFUL, A., IZRAYELIT, Y., BHATT, S., CARTWRIGHT, E., WANG, W., SWIMM, A. I., BENIAN, G. M., SCHROEDER, F. C. & KALMAN, D. (2013). A family of indoles regulate virulence and Shiga toxin production in pathogenic *E. coli. PLoS One* 8(1), e54456.
- BORGHI, M., PARIANO, M., SOLITO, V., PUCCETTI, M., BELLET, M. M., STINCARDINI, C., RENGA, G., VACCA, C., SELLITTO, F., MOSCI, P., BRANCORSINI, S., ROMANI, L. & COSTANTINI, C. (2019). Targeting the aryl hydrocarbon receptor with indole-3-aldehyde protects from vulvovaginal candidiasis via the IL-22-IL-18 cross-talk. *Frontiers in Immunology* 10, 2364.
- BRODIE, B. S., BABCOCK, T., GRIES, R., BENN, A. & GRIES, G. (2016). Acquired smell? Mature females of the common green bottle fly shift semiochemical preferences from feces feeding sites to carrion oviposition sites. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 42(1), 40–50.
- CANFORA, E. E., MEEX, R. C. R., VENEMA, K. & BLAAK, E. E. (2019). Gut microbial metabolites in obesity, NAFLD and T2DM. *Nature Reviews: Endocrinology* 15(5), 261–273.
- CASON, C. A., DOLAN, K. T., SHARMA, G., TAO, M., KULKARNI, R., HELENOWSKI, I. B., DOANE, B. M., AVRAM, M. J., MCDERMOTT, M. M., CHANG, E. B., OZAKI, C. K. & HO, K. J. (2018). Plasma microbiome-modulated indole- and phenyl-derived metabolites associate with advanced atherosclerosis and postoperative outcomes. *Journal of Vascular Surgery* 68(5), 1552–1562.e7.
- CERBONESCHI, M., DECOROSI, F., BIANCALANI, C., ORTENZI, M. V., MACCONI, S., GIOVANNETTI, L., VITI, C., CAMPANELLA, B., ONOR, M., BRAMANTI, E. & TEGLI, S. (2016). Indole-3-acetic acid in plant–pathogen interactions: a key molecule for in planta bacterial virulence and fitness. *Research in Microbiology* **167**(9), 774–787.
- Cervantes-Barragan, L., Chai, J. N., Tianero, M. D., Di Luccia, B., Ahern, P. P., Merriman, J., Cortez, V. S., Caparon, M. G., Donia, M. S., Gilfillan, S., Cella, M., Gordon, J. I., Hsieh, C.-S. & Colonna, M. (2017). *Lactobacillus reuteri* induces gut intraepithelial CD4⁺CD8 $\alpha\alpha^+$ T cells. *Science* 357 (6353), 806–810.
- CHADHA, N. & SILAKARI, O. (2017). Indoles as therapeutics of interest in medicinal chemistry: bird's eye view. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 134, 159–184.
- CHAPPELL, C. L., DARKOH, C., SHIMMIN, L., FARHANA, N., KIM, D.-K., OKHUYSEN, P. C. & HIXSON, J. (2016). Fecal indole as a biomarker of susceptibility to *Cryptosporidium* infection. *Infection and Immunity* 84(8), 2299–2306.
- CHEN, J., HALLER, C. A., JERNIGAN, F. E., KOERNER, S. K., WONG, D. J., WANG, Y., CHEONG, J. E., KOSARAJU, R., KWAN, J., PARK, D. D., THOMAS, B., BHASIN, S., DE LA ROSA, R. C., PREMJI, A. M., LIU, L., et al. (2020). Modulation of lymphocyte-mediated tissue repair by rational design of heterocyclic aryl hydrocarbon receptor agonists. *Science Advances* 6(3), eaay8230.
- CHEN, S. & LUETJE, C. (2014). Trace amines inhibit insect odorant receptor function through antagonism of the co-receptor subunit. F1000 Research 3(84), 84.
- CHEN, Y.-C., WU, M.-Y., HU, P.-J., CHEN, T.-T., SHEN, W.-C., CHANG, W.-C. & WU, M.-S. (2019a). Effects and safety of an oral adsorbent on chronic kidney disease progression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 8(10), 1718.
- CHEN, Y.-Y., CHEN, D.-Q., CHEN, L., LIU, J.-R., VAZIRI, N. D., GUO, Y. & ZHAO, Y.-Y. (2019b). Microbiome-metabolome reveals the contribution of gut-kidney axis on kidney disease. *Journal of Translational Medicine* 17(1), 5.

- CHENG, D., CHANG, H., MA, S., GUO, J., SHE, G., ZHANG, F., LI, L., LI, X. & LU, Y. (2018). Tiansi liquid modulates gut microbiota composition and tryptophankynurenine metabolism in rats with hydrocortisone-induced depression. *Molecules* **23**(11), 2832.
- CHENG, Y., JIN, U.-H., ALLRED, C. D., JAYARAMAN, A., CHAPKIN, R. S. & SAFE, S. (2015). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor activity of tryptophan metabolites in young adult mouse colonocytes. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* 43(10), 1536–1543.
- CHIMEREL, C., EMERY, E., SUMMERS, D. K., KEYSER, U., GRIBBLE, F. M. & REIMANN, F. (2014). Bacterial metabolite indole modulates incretin secretion from intestinal enteroendocrine L cells. *Cell Reports* 9(4), 1202–1208.
- CNA'ANI, A., SEIFAN, M. & TZIN, V. (2018). Indole is an essential molecule for plant interactions with herbivores and pollinators. *Journal of Plant Biology and Crop Research* 1(1), 1003.
- CODIPILLY, D. & KLEINBERG, I. (2008). Generation of indole/skatole during malodor formation in the salivary sediment model system and initial examination of the oral bacteria involved. *Journal of Breath Research* 2(1), 017017.
- CRYAN, J. F., O'RIORDAN, K. J., COWAN, C. S. M., SANDHU, K. V., BASTIAANSSEN, T. F. S., BOEHME, M., CODAGNONE, M. G., CUSSOTTO, S., FULLING, C., GOLUBEVA, A. V., GUZZETTA, K. E., JAGGAR, M., LONG-SMITH, C. M., LYTE, J. M., MARTIN, J. A., et al. (2019). The microbiota-gutbrain axis. *Physiological Reviews* **99**(4), 1877–2013.
- DARKOH, C., CHAPPELL, C., GONZALES, C. & OKHUYSEN, P. (2015). A rapid and specific method for the detection of indole in complex biological samples. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology 81(23), 8093–8097.
- DARKOH, C., PLANTS-PARIS, K., BISHOFF, D. & DUPONT, H. L. (2019). Clostridium difficile modulates the gut microbiota by inducing the production of indole, an interkingdom signaling and antimicrobial molecule. mSystems 4(2), e00346–e00318.
- DE MELLO, V. D., PAANANEN, J., LINDSTRÖM, J., LANKINEN, M. A., SHI, L., KUUSISTO, J., PIHLAJAMÄKI, J., AURIOLA, S., LEHTONEN, M., ROLANDSSON, O., BERCDAHL, I. A., NORDIN, E., ILANNE-PARIKKA, P., KEINÄNEN-KIUKAANNIEMI, S., et al. (2017). Indolepropionic acid and novel lipid metabolites are associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes in the Finnish diabetes prevention study. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), 46337.
- DEFOIRDT, T. (2018). Quorum-sensing systems as targets for antivirulence therapy. Trends in Microbiology 26(4), 313–328.
- DEKEL, A., YAKIR, E. & BOHBOT, J. D. (2019). The evolutionarily conserved indolergic receptors of the non-hematophagous elephant mosquito *Toxorhynchiles amboinensis*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 110, 45–51.
- DELZENNE, N. M., KNUDSEN, C., BEAUMONT, M., RODRIGUEZ, J., NEYRINCK, A. M. & BINDELS, L. B. (2019). Contribution of the gut microbiota to the regulation of host metabolism and energy balance: a focus on the gut–liver axis. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 78(3), 319–328.
- DÍAZ-SANTIZ, E., ROJAS, J. C., CASAS-MARTÍNEZ, M., CRUZ-LÓPEZ, L. & MALO, E. A. (2020). Rat volatiles as an attractant source for the Asian tiger mosquito, *Aedes albopictus. Scientific Reports* 10(1), 5170.
- DODD, D., SPITZER, M. H., VAN TREUREN, W., MERRILL, B. D., HRYCKOWIAN, A. J., HIGGINBOTTOM, S. K., LE, A., COWAN, T. M., NOLAN, G. P., FISCHBACH, M. A. & SONNENBURG, J. L. (2017). A gut bacterial pathway metabolizes aromatic amino acids into nine circulating metabolites. *Nature* 551(7682), 648–652.
- DONG, F., HAO, F., MURRAY, I. A., SMITH, P. B., KOO, I., TINDALL, A. M., KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M., GOWDA, K., AMIN, S. G., PATTERSON, A. D. & PERDEW, G. H. (2020). Intestinal microbiota-derived tryptophan metabolites are predictive of ah receptor activity. *Gut Microbes* 12(1), 1788899.
- DOU, L., SALLÉE, M., CERINI, C., POITEVIN, S., GONDOUIN, B., JOURDE-CHICHE, N., FALLAGUE, K., BRUNET, P., CALAF, R., DUSSOL, B., MALLET, B., DIGNAT-GEORGE, F. & BURTEY, S. (2015). The cardiovascular effect of the uremic solute indole-3 acetic acid. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 26(4), 876–887.
- DVOŤÁK, Z., KOPP, F., COSTELLO, C. M., KEMP, J. S., LI, H., VRZALOVÁ, A., ŠTĚPÁNKOVÁ, M., BARTOŇKOVÁ, I., JISKROVÁ, E., POULÍKOVÁ, K., VYHLÍDALOVÁ, B., NORDSTROEM, L. U., KARUNARATNE, C. V., RANHOTRA, H. S. & MUN, K. S., et al. (2020). Targeting the pregnane X receptor using microbial metabolite mimicry. *EMBO Molecular Medicine* 12(4), e11621.
- ELLIS, R. J., SMALL, D. M., VESEY, D. A., JOHNSON, D. W., FRANCIS, R., VITETTA, L., GOBE, G. C. & MORAIS, C. (2016). Indoxyl sulphate and kidney disease: causes, consequences and interventions. *Nephrology* 21(3), 170–177.
- ERB, M. & REYMOND, P. (2019). Molecular interactions between plants and insect herbivores. Annual Review of Plant Biology 70(1), 527–557.
- ERB, M., VEYRAT, N., ROBERT, C. A. M., XU, H., FREY, M., TON, J. & TURLINGS, T. C. J. (2015). Indole is an essential herbivore-induced volatile priming signal in maize. *Nature Communications* 6(1), 6273.
- ESTEBAN-ZUBERO, E., LÓPEZ-PINGARRÓN, L., ALATORRE-JIMÉNEZ, M. A., Ochoa-Moneo, P., Buisac-Ramón, C., Rivas-Jiménez, M., Castán-Ruiz, S., Antoñanzas-Lombarte, Á., Tan, D.-X., García, J. J. &

REITER, R. J. (2017). Melatonin's role as a co-adjuvant treatment in colonic diseases: a review. *Life Sciences* 170, 72–81.

- FATKHULLINA, A. R., PESHKOVA, I. O., DZUTSEV, A., AGHAYEV, T., MCCULLOCH, J. A., THOVARAI, V., BADGER, J. H., VATS, R., SUNDD, P., TANG, H.-Y., KOSSENKOV, A. V., HAZEN, S. L., TRINCHIERI, G., GRIVENNIKOV, S. I. & KOLTSOVA, E. K. (2013). An Interleukin-23-Interleukin-22 axis regulates intestinal microbial homeostasis to protect from diet-induced atherosclerosis. *Immunity* 49(5), 943–957.e9.
- GAO, J., XU, K., LIU, H., LIU, G., BAI, M., PENG, C., LI, T. & YIN, Y. (2018). Impact of the gut microbiota on intestinal immunity mediated by tryptophan metabolism. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 8, 13.
- GILBERT, S., XU, J., ACOSTA, K., POULEV, A., LEBEIS, S. & LAM, E. (2018). Bacterial production of indole related compounds reveals their role in association between duckweeds and endophytes. *Frontiers in Chemistry* 6, 265.
- HEATH-PAGLIUSO, S., ROGERS, W. J., TULLIS, K., SEIDEL, S. D., CENIJN, P. H., BROUWER, A. & DENISON, M. S. (1998). Activation of the ah receptor by tryptophan and tryptophan metabolites. *Biochemistry* **37**(33), 11508–11515.
- HELLER, I., LEITNER, S., DIERICH, M. P. & LASS-FLÖRL, C. (2004). Serotonin (5-HT) enhances the activity of amphotericin B against Aspergillus fumigatus in vitro. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents 24(4), 401–404.
- HELM, R. R. (2018). Evolution and development of scyphozoan jellyfish. *Biological Reviews* 93(2), 1228–1250.
- HENDRIKX, T. & SCHNABL, B. (2019). Indoles: metabolites produced by intestinal bacteria capable of controlling liver disease manifestation. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 286(1), 32–40.
- HU, H., WANG, C., LI, X., TANG, Y., WANG, Y., CHEN, S. & YAN, S. (2018). RNA-Seq identification of candidate defense genes targeted by endophytic *Bacillus cereus*mediated induced systemic resistance against *Meloidogyne incognita* in tomato. *Pest Management Science* 74(12), 2793–2805.
- HUBBARD, T. D., MURRAY, I. A., BISSON, W. H., LAHOTI, T. S., GOWDA, K., AMIN, S. G., PATTERSON, A. D. & PERDEW, G. H. (2015a). Adaptation of the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor to sense microbiota-derived indoles. *Scientific Reports* 5(1), 12689.
- HUBBARD, T. D., MURRAY, I. A., BISSON, W. H., SULLIVAN, A. P., SEBASTIAN, A., PERRY, G. H., JABLONSKI, N. G. & PERDEW, G. H. (2016). Divergent ah receptor ligand selectivity during hominin evolution. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 33(10), 2648–2658.
- HUBBARD, T. D., MURRAY, I. A. & PERDEW, G. H. (2015b). Indole and tryptophan metabolism: endogenous and dietary routes to ah receptor activation. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition* 43(10), 1522–1535.
- HUĆ, T., KONOP, M., ONYSZKIEWICZ, M., PODSADNI, P., SZCZEPAŃSKA, A., TURIO, J. & UFNAL, M. (2018a). Colonic indole, gut bacteria metabolite of tryptophan, increases portal blood pressure in rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* **315**(4), R646–R655.
- HUĆ, T., NOWINSKI, A., DRAPALA, A., KONOPELSKI, P. & UFNAL, M. (2018b). Indole and indoxyl sulfate, gut bacteria metabolites of tryptophan, change arterial blood pressure via peripheral and central mechanisms in rats. *Pharmacological Research* 130, 172–179.
- ILLÉS, P., KRASULOVÁ, K., VYHLÍDALOVÁ, B., POULÍKOVÁ, K., MARCALÍKOVÁ, A., PEČINKOVÁ, P., SIROTOVÁ, N., VRZAL, R., MANI, S. & DVOŘÁK, Z. (2020). Indole microbial intestinal metabolites expand the repertoire of ligands and agonists of the human pregnane X receptor. *Toxicology Letters* 334, 87–93.
- JAGLIN, M., RHIMI, M., PHILIPPE, C., PONS, N., BRUNEAU, A., GOUSTARD, B., DAUGÉ, V., MAGUIN, E., NAUDON, L. & RABOT, S. (2018). Indole, a signaling molecule produced by the gut microbiota, negatively impacts emotional behaviors in rats. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 12, 216.
- JENNIS, M., CAVANAUGH, C. R., LEO, G. C., MABUS, J. R., LENHARD, J. & HORNBY, P. J. (2018). Microbiota-derived tryptophan indoles increase after gastric bypass surgery and reduce intestinal permeability *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility* **30**(2), e13178.
- JI, Y., YIN, Y., LI, Z. & ZHANG, W. (2019). Gut microbiota-derived components and metabolites in the progression of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *Nutrients* 11(8), 1712.
- JIN, U.-H., LEE, S.-O., SRIDHARAN, G., LEE, K., DAVIDSON, L. A., JAYARAMAN, A., CHAPKIN, R. S., ALANIZ, R. & SAFE, S. (2014). Microbiome-derived tryptophan metabolites and their aryl hydrocarbon receptor-dependent agonist and antagonist activities. *Molecular Pharmacology* 85(5), 777–788.
- JING, W., DONG, S., LUO, X., LIU, J., WEI, B., DU, W., YANG, L., LUO, H., WANG, Y., WANG, S. & LU, H. (2021). Berberine improves colitis by triggering AhR activation by microbial tryptophan catabolites. *Pharmacological Research* 164, 105358.
- JOHNSON, S. D. & JÜRGENS, A. (2010). Convergent evolution of carrion and faecal scent mimicry in fly-pollinated angiosperm flowers and a stinkhorn fungus. *South African Journal of Botany* 76(4), 796–807.
- JÜRGENS, A., DÖTTERL, S. & MEVE, U. (2006). The chemical nature of fetid floral odours in stapeliads (Apocynaccae-Asclepiadoideae-Ceropegieae). *New Phytologist* 172(3), 452–468.

- KAPPEL, B. A., DE ANGELIS, L., HEISER, M., BALLANTI, M., STOEHR, R., GOETTSCH, C., MAVILIO, M., ARTATI, A., PAOLUZI, O. A., ADAMSKI, J., MINGRONE, G., STAELS, B., BURCELIN, R., MONTELEONE, G., MENGHINI, R., et al. (2020). Cross-omics analysis revealed gut microbiome-related metabolic pathways underlying atherosclerosis development after antibiotics treatment. *Molecular Metabolism* 36, 100976.
- KAPPEL, B. A. & FEDERICI, M. (2019). Gut microbiome and cardiometabolic risk. *Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders* 20(4), 399–406.
- KARLIN, D. A., MASTROMARINO, A. J., JONES, R. D., STROEHLEIN, J. R. & LORENTZ, O. (1985). Fecal skatole and indole and breath methane and hydrogen in patients with large bowel polyps or cancer. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology* **109**, 135–141.
- KARU, N., MCKERCHER, C., NICHOLS, D. S., DAVIES, N., SHELLIE, R. A., HILDER, E. F. & JOSE, M. D. (2016). Tryptophan metabolism, its relation to inflammation and stress markers and association with psychological and cognitive functioning: Tasmanian chronic kidney disease pilot study. *BMC Nephrology* 17 (1), 171.
- KATZ, E., NISANI, S. & CHAMOVITZ, D. (2018). Indole-3-carbinol: a plant hormone combatting cancer. F1000 Research 7(689), 1–9.
- KATZ, E., NISANI, S., YADAV, B. S., WOLDEMARIAM, M. G., SHAI, B., OBOLSKI, U., EHRLICH, M., SHANI, E., JANDER, G. & CHAMOVITZ, D. A. (2015). The glucosinolate breakdown product indole-3-carbinol acts as an auxin antagonist in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Journal* 82(4), 547–555.
- KONOPELSKI, P., KONOP, M., GAWRYS-KOPCZYNSKA, M., PODSADNI, P., SZCZEPANSKA, A. & UFNAL, M. (2019). Indole-3-propionic acid, a tryptophanderived bacterial metabolite, reduces weight gain in rats. *Nutrients* 11(3), 591.
- KRISHNAN, S., DING, Y., SAEDI, N., CHOI, M., SRIDHARAN, G. V., SHERR, D. H., YARMUSH, M. L., ALANIZ, R. C., JAVARAMAN, A. & LEE, K. (2018). Gut microbiota-derived tryptophan metabolites modulate inflammatory response in hepatocytes and macrophages. *Cell Reports* 23(4), 1099–1111.
- KUMAR, A. & SPERANDIO, V. (2019). Indole signaling at the host-microbiota-pathogen interface. *MBio* 10(3), e01031–e01019.
- KURATA, K., KAWAHARA, H., NISHIMURA, K., JISAKA, M., YOKOTA, K. & SHIMIZU, H. (2019). Skatole regulates intestinal epithelial cellular functions through activating aryl hydrocarbon receptors and p38. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 510(4), 649–655.
- LEE, H., PARK, S., JU, S., KIM, S., Yoo, J.-W., YOON, I.-S., MIN, D. S. & JUNG, Y. (2021). Preparation and evaluation of colon-targeted prodrugs of the microbial metabolite 3-indolepropionic acid as an anticolitic agent. *Molecular Pharmaceutics* 18 (4), 1730–1741.
- LEE, H. H., MOLLA, M. N., CANTOR, C. R. & COLLINS, J. J. (2010). Bacterial charity work leads to population-wide resistance. *Nature* 467(7311), 82–85.
- LEE, J.-H., KIM, Y.-G., BAEK, K.-H., CHO, M. H. & LEE, J. (2015a). The multifaceted roles of the interspecies signalling molecule indole in *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Environmental Microbiology* 17(4), 1234–1244.
- LEE, J.-H., KIM, Y.-G., Gwon, G., WOOD, T. K. & LEE, J. (2016). Halogenated indoles eradicate bacterial persister cells and biofilms. AMB Express 6(1), 123.
- LEE, J.-H., KIM, Y.-G., KIM, M., KIM, E., CHOI, H., KIM, Y. & LEE, J. (2017). Indoleassociated predator-prey interactions between the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* and bacteria. *Environmental Microbiology* 19(5), 1776–1790.
- LEE, J.-H. & LEE, J. (2010). Indole as an intercellular signal in microbial communities. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 34(4), 426–444.
- LEE, J.-H., WOOD, T. K. & LEE, J. (2015b). Roles of indole as an interspecies and interkingdom signaling molecule. *Trends in Microbiology* 23(11), 707–718.
- LEE, J., BANSAL, T., JAYARAMAN, A., BENTLEY, W. E. & WOOD, T. K. (2007). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* biofilms are inhibited by 7-hydroxyindole and stimulated by isatin. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 73(13), 4100–4109.
- LEVSER, O. (2018). Auxin Signaling. Plant Physiology 176(1), 465–479.
 LI, H., ILLÉS, P., KARUNARATNE, C. V., NORDSTRØM, L. U., LUO, X., YANG, A., QIU, Y., KURLAND, I. J., LUKIN, D. J., CHEN, W., JISKROVÁ, E., KRASULOVÁ, K., PEČINKOVÁ, P., DESMARAIS, V. M. & LIU, Q., et al. (2021). Deciphering structural bases of intestinal and hepatic selectivity in targeting pregnane X receptor with indole-based microbial mimics. *Bionganic Chemistry* 109, 104661.
- LI, M., LI, M., ZHOU, M., ZHAO, Y., XU, J., HU, F., LI, T. & LI, H. (2020). Metabolites of Bacterial-Feeding Nematodes Stimulate Bacterial Indole-3-Acetic Acid (IAA) Synthesis. Durham, NC: Research Square, https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-34400/v1.
- LIN, Y.-T., WU, P.-H., LEE, H.-H., MUBANGA, M., CHEN, C.-S., KUO, M.-C., CHIU, Y.-W., KUO, P.-L. & HWANG, S.-J. (2019a). Indole-3 acetic acid increased risk of impaired cognitive function in patients receiving hemodialysis. *Neurotoxicology* **73**, 85–91.
- LIN, Y.-T., WU, P.-H., TSAI, Y.-C., HSU, Y.-L., WANG, H. Y., KUO, M.-C., KUO, P.-L. & HWANG, S.-J. (2019b). Indoxyl sulfate induces apoptosis through oxidative stress and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway inhibition in human astrocytes. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 8(2), 191.
- LIU, W., LONGNECKER, M., TARONE, A. M. & TOMBERLIN, J. K. (2016). Responses of Lucilia sericata (Diptera: Calliphoridae) to compounds from microbial decomposition of larval resources. Animal Behaviour 115, 217–225.

- LOFTUS, B., ANDERSON, I., DAVIES, R., ALSMARK, U. C. M., SAMUELSON, J., AMEDEO, P., RONCAGLIA, P., BERRIMAN, M., HIRT, R. P., MANN, B. J., NOZAKI, T., SUH, B., POP, M., DUCHENE, M., ACKERS, J., et al. (2005). The genome of the protist parasite *Entamoeba histolytica*. *Nature* **433**(7028), 865–868.
- MA, L., LI, H., HU, J., ZHENG, J., ZHOU, J., BOTCHLETT, R., MATTHEWS, D., ZENG, T., CHEN, L., XIAO, X., ATHREY, G., THREADGILL, D., LI, Q., GLASER, S., FRANCIS, H., MENG, F., LI, Q., ALPINI, G. & WU, C. (2020). Indole alleviates diet-induced hepatic steatosis and inflammation in a manner involving myeloid cell 6-Phosphofructo-2-kinase/Fructose-2,6-Biphosphatase 3. *Hepatology* 72(4), 1191–1203.
- MARTÍN-RUIZ, A., PEÑA, L., GONZÁLEZ-GIL, A., DÍEZ-CÓRDOVA, L. T., CÁCERES, S. & ILLERA, J. C. (2018). Effects of indole-3-carbinol on steroid hormone profile and tumor progression in a mice model of canine inflammatory mammary cancer. *BMC Cancer* 18(1), 626.
- MASSY, Z. A. & LIABEUF, S. (2018). From old uraemic toxins to new uraemic toxins: place of 'omics'. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 33, iii2–iii5.
- MATTHEWS, J. L., RAINA, J.-B., KAHLKE, T., SEYMOUR, J. R., VAN OPPEN, M. J. H. & SUGGETT, D. J. (2020). Symbiodiniaceae-bacteria interactions: rethinking metabolite exchange in reef-building corals as multi-partner metabolic networks. *Environmental Microbiology* 22(5), 1675–1687.
- MCCARVILLE, J. L., CHEN, G. Y., CUEVAS, V. D., TROHA, K. & AYRES, J. S. (2020). Microbiota metabolites in health and disease. *Annual Review of Immunology* 38(1), 147–170.
- MEIJERINK, J., BRAKS, M. A. H., BRACK, A. A., ADAM, W., DEKKER, T., POSTHUMUS, M. A., VAN BEEK, T. A. & VAN LOON, J. J. A. (2000). Identification of olfactory stimulants for *Anopheles gambiae* from human sweat samples. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 26(6), 1367–1382.
- MILLER, C. A. (1997). Expression of the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex in yeast: activation of transcription by indole compounds. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272(52), 32824–32829.
- MOGILNICKA, I., BOGUCKI, P. & UFNAL, M. (2020). Microbiota and malodoretiology and management. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(8), 2886.
- MUELLER, R. S., BEYHAN, S., SAINI, S. G., YILDIZ, F. H. & BARTLETT, D. H. (2009). Indole acts as an extracellular cue regulating gene expression in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Journal of Bacteriology* **191**(11), 3504–3516.
- NATIVIDAD, J. M., AGUS, A., PLANCHAIS, J., LAMAS, B., JARRY, A. C., MARTIN, R., MICHEL, M.-L., CHONG-NGUYEN, C., ROUSSEL, R., STRAUBE, M., JEGOU, S., MCQUITTY, C., LE GALL, M., DA COSTA, G., LECORNET, E., et al. (2018). Impaired aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligand production by the gut microbiota is a key factor in metabolic syndrome. *Cell Metabolism* 28(5), 737–749.e4.
- NAZZAL, L., ROBERTS, J., SINGH, P., JHAWAR, S., MATALON, A., GAO, Z., HOLZMAN, R., LIEBES, L., BLASER, M. J. & LOWENSTEIN, J. (2017). Microbiome perturbation by oral vancomycin reduces plasma concentration of two gut-derived uremic solutes, indoxyl sulfate and *p*-cresyl sulfate, in end-stage renal disease. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 32(11), 1809–1817.
- NGANGBAM, A. K., BATEN, A., WATERS, D. L. E., WHALAN, S. & BENKENDORFF, K. (2015a). Characterization of bacterial communities associated with the tyrian purple producing gland in a marine gastropod. *PLoS One* **10**(10), e0140725.
- NGANGBAM, A. K., WATERS, D. L. E., WHALAN, S., BATEN, A. & BENKENDORFF, K. (2015b). Indole-producing bacteria from the biosynthetic organs of a muricid mollusc could contribute to tyrian purple production. *Journal of Shellfish Research* 34 (2), 443–454.
- NONGMAITHEM, B. D., MOUATT, P., SMITH, J., RUDD, D., RUSSELL, M., SULLIVAN, C. & BENKENDORFF, K. (2017). Volatile and bioactive compounds in opercula from Muricidae molluscs supports their use in ceremonial incense and traditional medicines. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), 17404.
- OCHI, A., MORI, K., NAKATANI, S., EMOTO, M., MORIOKA, T., MOTOYAMA, K., FUKUMOTO, S., IMANISHI, Y., SHOJI, T., ISHIMURA, E. & INABA, M. (2015). Indoxyl sulfate suppresses hepatic fetuin-a expression via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in HepG2 cells. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* **30**(10), 1683–1692.
- PELLETIER, J., HUGHES, D. T., LUETJE, C. W. & LEAL, W. S. (2010). An odorant receptor from the southern house mosquito *Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus* sensitive to oviposition attractants. *PLoS One* 5(4), e10090.
- PERNOMIAN, L., DUARTE-SILVA, M. & DE BARROS CARDOSO, C. R. (2020). The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) as a potential target for the control of intestinal inflammation: insights from an immune and bacteria sensor receptor. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy & Immunology*, **59**, 382–390.
- PONDUGULA, S. R., FLANNERY, P. C., ABBOTT, K. L., COLEMAN, E. S., MANI, S., SAMUEL, T. & XIE, W. (2015). Diindolylmethane, a naturally occurring compound, induces CYP3A4 and MDR1 gene expression by activating human PXR. *Toxicology Letters* 232(3), 580–589.
- POWELL, D. N., SWIMM, A., SONOWAL, R., BRETIN, A., GEWIRTZ, A. T., JONES, R. M. & KALMAN, D. (2020). Indoles from the commensal microbiota act via the AHR and IL-10 to tune the cellular composition of the colonic epithelium during aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117(35), 21519–21526.

- PULAKAZHI VENU, V. K., SAIFEDDINE, M., MIHARA, K., TSAI, Y.-C., NIEVES, K., ALSTON, L., MANI, S., MCCOY, K. D., HOLLENBERG, M. D. & HIROTA, S. A. (2019). The pregnane X receptor and its microbiota-derived ligand indole 3-propionic acid regulate endothelium-dependent vasodilation. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism* **317**(2), E350–E361.
- QAYED, M., MICHONNEAU, D., SOCIÉ, G. & WALLER, E. K. (2021). Indole derivatives, microbiome and graft versus host disease. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 70, 40–47.
- RAJASEKHARAN, S. K., KIM, S., KIM, J.-C. & LEE, J. (2020). Nematicidal activity of 5-iodoindole against root-knot nematodes. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology* 163, 76–83.
- RAJASEKHARAN, S. K., LEE, J.-H., RAVICHANDRAN, V., KIM, J.-C., PARK, J. G. & LEE, J. (2019). Nematicidal and insecticidal activities of halogenated indoles. *Scientific Reports* 9(1), 2010.
- RAJASEKHARAN, S. K., LEE, J.-H., RAVICHANDRAN, V. & LEE, J. (2017). Assessments of iodoindoles and abamectin as inducers of methuosis in pinewood nematode, *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus. Scientific Reports* 7(1), 6803.
- RASMUSSEN, M. K., BALAGUER, P., EKSTRAND, B., DAUJAT-CHAVANIEU, M. & GERBAL-CHALOIN, S. (2016). Skatole (3-Methylindole) is a partial aryl hydrocarbon receptor agonist and induces CYP1A1/2 and CYP1B1 expression in primary human hepatocytes. *PLoS One* 11(5), e0154629.
- ROAGER, H. M. & LICHT, T. R. (2018). Microbial tryptophan catabolites in health and disease. *Nature Communications* 9(1), 3294.
- ROTHHAMMER, V., MASCANFRONI, I. D., BUNSE, L., TAKENAKA, M. C., KENISON, J. E., MAYO, L., CHAO, C.-C., PATEL, B., YAN, R., BLAIN, M., ALVAREZ, J. I., KÉBIR, H., ANANDASABAPATHY, N., IZQUIERDO, G., JUNG, S., et al. (2016). Type I interferons and microbial metabolites of tryptophan modulate astrocyte activity and central nervous system inflammation via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature Medicine* 22(6), 586–597.
- RUEBEL, M. L., PICCOLO, B. D., MERCER, K. E., PACK, L., MOUTOS, D., SHANKAR, K. & ANDRES, A. (2019). Obesity leads to distinct metabolomic signatures in follicular fluid of women undergoing *in vitro* fertilization. *American Journal of Physiology: Endocrinology and Metabolism* **316**(3), E383–E396.
- RUEL, D. M., YAKIR, E. & BOHBOT, J. D. (2019). Supersensitive odorant receptor underscores pleiotropic roles of indoles in mosquito ecology. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* 12, 533.
- SADEKUZZAMAN, M., PARK, Y., LEE, S., KIM, K., JUNG, J. K. & KIM, Y. (2017). An entomopathogenic bacterium, *Xenorhabdus hominickii* ANU101, produces oxindole and suppresses host insect immune response by inhibiting eicosanoid biosynthesis. *Journal of Invertebrate Pathology* 145, 13–22.
- SARODE, G. V., KIM, K., KIEFFER, D. A., SHIBATA, N. M., LITWIN, T., CZLONKOWSKA, A. & MEDICI, V. (2019). Metabolomics profiles of patients with Wilson disease reveal a distinct metabolic signature. *Metabolomics* 15(3), 43.
- SCHROEDER, J. C., DINATALE, B. C., MURRAY, I. A., FLAVENY, C. A., LIU, Q., LAURENZANA, E. M., LIN, J. M., STROM, S. C., OMIECINSKI, C. J., AMIN, S. & PERDEW, G. H. (2010). The uremic toxin 3-indoxyl sulfate is a potent endogenous agonist for the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Biochemistry* **49**(2), 393–400.
- SCOTT, S. A., FU, J. & CHANG, P. V. (2020). Microbial tryptophan metabolites regulate gut barrier function via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **117**(32), 19376–19387.
- SEOK, S.-H., MA, Z.-X., FELTENBERGER, J. B., CHEN, H., CHEN, H., SCARLETT, C., LIN, Z., SATYSHUR, K. A., CORTOPASSI, M., JEFCOATE, C. R., GE, Y., TANG, W., BRADFIELD, C. A. & XING, Y. (2018). Trace derivatives of kynurenine potently activate the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR). *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 293(6), 1994–2005.
- SHEN, Q., LIU, L., WANG, L. & WANG, Q. (2018). Indole primes plant defense against necrotrophic fungal pathogen infection. *PLoS One* 13(11), e0207607.
- SHEN, W.-C., LIANG, C.-J., HUANG, T.-M., LIU, C.-W., WANG, S.-H., YOUNG, G.-H., TSAI, J.-S., TSENG, Y.-C., PENG, Y.-S., WU, V.-C. & CHEN, Y.-L. (2016). Indoxyl sulfate enhances IL-1β-induced E-selectin expression in endothelial cells in acute kidney injury by the ROS/MAPKs/NFkB/AP-1 pathway. Archives of Toxicology 90(11), 2779–2792.
- SHI, J., ZHAO, D., SONG, S., ZHANG, M., ZAMARATSKAIA, G., XU, X., ZHOU, G. & LI, C. (2020). High-meat-protein high-fat diet induced dysbiosis of gut microbiota and tryptophan metabolism in wistar rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 68 (23), 6333–6346.
- SHIMADA, Y., KINOSHITA, M., HARADA, K., MIZUTANI, M., MASAHATA, K., KAYAMA, H. & TAKEDA, K. (2013). Commensal bacteria-dependent indole production enhances epithelial barrier function in the colon. *PLoS Ome* 8(11), e80604.
- SONOWAL, R., SWIMM, A., SAHOO, A., LUO, L., MATSUNAGA, Y., WU, Z., BHINGARDE, J. A., EJZAK, E. A., RANAWADE, A., QADOTA, H., POWELL, D. N., CAPALDO, C. T., FLACKER, J. M., JONES, R. M., BENIAN, G. M. & KALMAN, D. (2017). Indoles from commensal bacteria extend healthspan. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114(36), E7506–E7515.
- Sousa, J. R., Silva, F. A., Targanski, S. K., Fazolo, B. R., Souza, J. M., Campos, M. G., Vieira, L. C. C., de Oliveira Mendes, T. A. &

SOARES, M. A. (2019). Synthesis and larvicidal activity of indole derivatives against Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Applied Entomology* 143(10), 1172–1181.

- STEINMEYER, S., HOWSMON, D. P., ALANIZ, R. C., HAHN, J. & JAYARAMAN, A. (2017). Empirical modeling of T cell activation predicts interplay of host cytokines and bacterial indole. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 114(11), 2660–2667.
- STEPANKOVA, M., BARTONKOVA, I., JISKROVA, E., VRZAL, R., MANI, S., KORTAGERE, S. & DVORAK, Z. (2018). Methylindoles and methoxyindoles are agonists and antagonists of human aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Molecular Pharmacology* **93**(6), 631–644.
- SUN, C.-Y., LIN, C.-J., PAN, H.-C., LEE, C.-C., LU, S.-C., HSIEH, Y.-T., HUANG, S.-Y. & HUANG, H.-Y. (2019a). Clinical association between the metabolite of healthy gut microbiota, 3-indolepropionic acid and chronic kidney disease. *Clinical Nutrition* 38(6), 2945–2948.
- SUN, H., ZHENG, M., SONG, J., HUANG, S., PAN, Y., GONG, R. & LIN, Z. (2019b). Multiple-species hormetic phenomena induced by indole: a case study on the toxicity of indole to bacteria, algae and human cells. *Science of the Total Environment* 657, 46–55.
- SWIMM, A., GIVER, C. R., DEFILIPP, Z., RANGARAJU, S., SHARMA, A., ULEZKO ANTONOVA, A., SONOWAL, R., CAPALDO, C., POWELL, D., QAYED, M., KALMAN, D. & WALLER, E. K. (2018). Indoles derived from intestinal microbiota act via type I interferon signaling to limit graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* 132(23), 2506–2519.
- TAKKAVATAKARN, K., WUTTIPUTINUN, T., PHANNAJIT, J., PRADITPORNSILPA, K., EIAM-ONG, S. & SUSANTITAPHONG, P. (2021). Protein-bound uremic toxin lowering strategies in chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of Nephrology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40620-020-00955-2.
- TANAKA, D., FURUSAWA, K., KAMEYAMA, K., OKAMOTO, H. & DOI, M. (2007). Melatonin signaling regulates locomotion behavior and homeostatic states through distinct receptor pathways in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Neuropharmacology* 53(1), 157–168.
- TOGHUEO, R. M. K. (2019). Bioprospecting endophytic fungi from *Fusarium* genus as sources of bioactive metabolites. *Mycology* 11(1), 1–21.
- TOMBERLIN, J. K., CRIPPEN, T. L., WU, G., GRIFFIN, A. S., WOOD, T. K. & KILNER, R. M. (2017). Indole: an evolutionarily conserved influencer of behavior across kingdoms. *BioEssays* 39(2), 1600203.
- TUOMAINEN, M., LINDSTRÖM, J., LEHTONEN, M., AURIOLA, S., PIHLAJAMÄKI, J., PELTONEN, M., TUOMILEHTO, J., UUSITUPA, M., DE MELLO, V. D. & HANHINEVA, K. (2018). Associations of serum indolepropionic acid, a gut microbiota metabolite, with type 2 diabetes and low-grade inflammation in highrisk individuals. *Nutrition & Diabetes* 8(1), 35.
- URECH, R., GREEN, P. E., RICE, M. J., BROWN, G. W., DUNCALFE, F. & WEBB, P. (2004). Composition of chemical attractants affects trap catches of the Australian sheep blowfly, *Lucilia cuprina*, and other blowflies. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **30**(4), 851–866.
- VENKATESH, M., MUKHERJEE, S., WANG, H., LI, H., SUN, K., BENECHET, A. P., QIU, Z., MAHER, L., REDINBO, M. R., PHILLIPS, R. S., FLEET, J. C., KORTAGERE, S., MUKHERJEE, P., FASANO, A., LE VEN, J., et al. (2014). Symbiotic bacterial metabolites regulate gastrointestinal barrier function via the xenobiotic sensor PXR and toll-like receptor 4. *Immunity* **41**(2), 296–310.
- VILLETTE, R., PUKAR, K. C., BELIARD, S., SALAS TAPIA, M. F., RAINTEAU, D., GUERIN, M. & LESNIK, P. (2020). Unraveling host-gut microbiota dialogue and its impact on cholesterol levels. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 11, 278.
- VIRDEE, M. S., SAINI, N., KAY, C. D., NEILSON, A. P., KWAN, S. T. C., HELFRICH, K. K., MOONEY, S. M. & SMITH, S. M. (2021). An enriched biosignature of gut microbiota-dependent metabolites characterizes maternal plasma in a mouse model of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. *Scientific Reports* 11(1), 248.
- VYHLÍDALOVÁ, B., KRASULOVÁ, K., PEČINKOVÁ, P., MARCALÍROVÁ, A., VRZAL, R., ZEMÁNKOVÁ, L., VANČO, J., TRÁVNÍČEK, Z., VONDRÁČEK, J., KARASOVÁ, M., MANI, S. & DVOŤÁK, Z. (2020). Gut microbial catabolites of tryptophan are ligands and agonists of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor: a detailed characterization. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(7), 2614.
- WANG, G., CAREY, A. F., CARLSON, J. R. & ZWIEBEL, L. J. (2010). Molecular basis of odor coding in the malaria vector mosquito Anopheles gambiae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107(9), 4418–4423.
- WANG, X., HUANG, Y., SHENG, Y., SU, P., QIU, Y., KE, C. & FENG, D. (2017). Antifouling activity towards mussel by small-molecule compounds from a strain of Vibrio alginolyticus bacterium associated with sea anemone Haliplanella sp. Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 27(3), 460–470.
- WEBER, D., ÖEFNER, P. J., HIERGEIST, A., KOESTLER, J., GESSNER, A., WEBER, M., HAHN, J., WOLFF, D., STÄMMLER, F., SPANG, R., HERR, W., DETTMER, K. & HOLLER, E. (2015). Low urinary indoxyl sulfate levels early after transplantation reflect a disrupted microbiome and are associated with poor outcome. *Blood* 126 (14), 1723–1728.
- WIKOFF, W. R., ANFORA, A. T., LIU, J., SCHULTZ, P. G., LESLEY, S. A., PETERS, E. C. & SIUZDAK, G. (2009). Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **106**(10), 3698–3703.

- WILCK, N., MATUS, M. G., KEARNEY, S. M., OLESEN, S. W., FORSLUND, K., BARTOLOMAEUS, H., HAASE, S., MÄHLER, A., BALOGH, A., MARKÓ, L., VVEDENSKAYA, O., KLEINER, F. H., TSVETKOV, D., KLUG, L. & COSTEA, P. I., et al. (2017). Salt-responsive gut commensal modulates TH17 axis and disease. *Nature* 551(7682), 585–589.
- WILLIAMS, K. B., BISCHOF, J., LEE, F. J., MILLER, K. A., LAPALME, J. V., WOLFE, B. E. & LEVIN, M. (2020). Regulation of axial and head patterning during planarian regeneration by a commensal bacterium. *Mechanisms of Development* 163, 103614.
- WISHART, D. S. (2019). Metabolomics for investigating physiological and pathophysiological processes. *Physiological Reviews* 99(4), 1819–1875.
- WLODARSKA, M., LUO, C., KOLDE, R., D'HENNEZEL, E., ANNAND, J. W., HEIM, C. E., KRASTEL, P., SCHMITT, E. K., OMAR, A. S., CREASEY, E. A., GARNER, A. L., MOHAMMADI, S., O'CONNELL, D. J., ABUBUCKER, S., ARTHUR, T. D., et al. (2017). Indoleacrylic acid produced by commensal *Peptostreptococcus* species suppresses inflammation. *Cell Host & Microbe* 22(1), 25–37.e6.
- WONG, C. B., TANAKA, A., KUHARA, T. & XIAO, J.-Z. (2020). Potential effects of indole-3-lactic acid, a metabolite of human bifidobacteria, on NGF-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells. *Microorganisms* 8(3), 398.
- WONG, J., PICENO, Y. M., DESANTIS, T. Z., PAHL, M., ANDERSEN, G. L. & VAZIRI, N. D. (2014). Expansion of urease- and uricase-containing, indole- and *p*-cresol-forming and contraction of short-chain fatty acid-producing intestinal microbiota in ESRD. *American Journal of Nephrology* **39**(3), 230–237.
- WU, L., HAN, Y., ZHENG, Z., PENG, G., LIU, P., YUE, S., ZHU, S., CHEN, J., LV, H., SHAO, L., SHENG, Y., WANG, Y., LI, L., LI, L. & WANG, B. (2021). Altered gut microbial metabolites in amnestic mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: signals in host-microbe interplay. *Nutrients* 13(1), 228.
- XIAO, H.-W., CUI, M., LI, Y., DONG, J.-L., ZHANG, S.-Q., ZHU, C.-C., JIANG, M., ZHU, T., WANG, B., WANG, H.-C. & FAN, S.-J. (2020). Gut microbiota-derived indole 3-propionic acid protects against radiation toxicity via retaining acyl-CoAbinding protein. *Microbiome* 8(1), 69.
- YANG, Y.-F., CHEN, C.-Y., LU, T.-H. & LIAO, C.-M. (2020). Impact of consumer– resource dynamics on *C. elegans–E. coli* system exposed to nano zero-valent iron (nZVI). *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 27(4), 4206–4218.
- YANO, J. M., YU, K., DONALDSON, G. P., SHASTRI, G. G., ANN, P., MA, L., NAGLER, C. R., ISMAGILOV, R. F., MAZMANIAN, S. K. & HSIAO, E. Y. (2015). Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell* 161(2), 264–276.
- YE, L., BAE, M., CASSILLY, C. D., JABBA, S. V., THORPE, D. W., MARTIN, A. M., LU, H.-Y., WANG, J., THOMPSON, J. D., LICKWAR, C. R., POSS, K. D., KEATING, D. J., JORDT, S.-E., CLARDY, J., LIDDLE, R. A. & RAWLS, J. F. (2021a). Enteroendocrine cells sense bacterial tryptophan catabolites to activate enteric and vagal neuronal pathways. *Cell Host & Microbe* 29(2), 179–196.e9.
- YE, M., LIU, M., ERB, M., GLAUSER, G., ZHANG, J., LI, X. & SUN, X. (2021b). Indole primes defense signaling and increases herbivore resistance in tea plants. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 44(4), 1165–1177.
- YE, M., VEYRAT, N., XU, H., HU, L., TURLINGS, T. C. J. & ERB, M. (2018). An herbivore-induced plant volatile reduces parasitoid attraction by changing the smell of caterpillars. *Science Advances* 4(5), eaar4767.
- YEH, Y.-C., HUANG, M.-F., LIANG, S.-S., HWANG, S.-J., TSAI, J.-C., LIU, T.-L., WU, P.-H., YANG, Y.-H., KUO, K.-C., KUO, M.-C. & CHEN, C.-S. (2016). Indoxyl sulfate, not p-cresyl sulfate, is associated with cognitive impairment in early-stage chronic kidney disease. *Neurotoxicology* 53, 148–152.
- YISIREYILI, M., TAKESHITA, K., SAITO, S., MUROHARA, T. & NIWA, T. (2017). Indole-3-propionic acid suppresses indoxyl sulfate-induced expression of fibrotic and inflammatory genes in proximal tubular cells. *Nagoya Journal of Medical Science* 79(4), 477–486.
- YU, J., LUO, Y., ZHU, Z., ZHOU, Y., SUN, L., GAO, J., SUN, J., WANG, G., YAO, X. & LI, W. (2019). A tryptophan metabolite of the skin microbiota attenuates inflammation in patients with atopic dermatitis through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **143**(6), 2108–2119.e12.
- Yu, S.-M. & LEE, Y. H. (2013). Plant growth promoting rhizobacterium *Proteus vulgaris* JBLS202 stimulates the seedling growth of Chinese cabbage through indole emission. *Plant and Soil* **370**(1), 485–495.
- ZARKAN, A., LIU, J., MATUSZEWSKA, M., GAIMSTER, H. & SUMMERS, D. K. (2020). Local and universal action: the paradoxes of indole signalling in bacteria. *Trends in Microbiology* 28(7), 566–577.
- ZELANTE, T., IANNITTI, R. G., CUNHA, C., DE LUCA, A., GIOVANNINI, G., PIERACCINI, G., ZECCHI, R., D'ANGELO, C., MASSI-BENEDETTI, C., FALLARINO, F., CARVALHO, A., PUCCETTI, P. & ROMANI, L. (2013). Tryptophan catabolites from microbiota engage aryl hydrocarbon receptor and balance mucosal reactivity via interleukin-22. *Immunity* 39(2), 372–385.
- ZGODA-POLS, J. R., CHOWDHURY, S., WIRTH, M., MILBURN, M. V., ALEXANDER, D. C. & ALTON, K. B. (2011). Metabolomics analysis reveals elevation of 3-indoxyl sulfate in plasma and brain during chemically-induced acute kidney injury in mice: investigation of nicotinic acid receptor agonists. *Toxicology* and Applied Pharmacology 255(1), 48–56.

ZHANG, S., ZHANG, W., LIU, N., SONG, T., LIU, H., ZHAO, X., XU, W. & LI, C. (2017). Indole reduces the expression of virulence related genes in *Vibrio splendidus* pathogenic to sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus*. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 111, 168–173.

- ZHANG, Y., LU, H. & BARGMANN, C. I. (2005). Pathogenic bacteria induce aversive olfactory learning in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature* **438**(7065), 179–184.
- Zhao, Z.-H., Xin, F.-Z., Xue, Y., Hu, Z., Han, Y., Ma, F., Zhou, D., Liu, X.-L., Cui, A., Liu, Z., Liu, Y., Gao, J., Pan, Q., Li, Y. & Fan, J.-G. (2019). Indole-

3-propionic acid inhibits gut dysbiosis and endotoxin leakage to attenuate steatohepatitis in rats. *Experimental and Molecular Medicine* **51**(9), 1–14.

- ZHOU, D. & FAN, J.-G. (2019). Microbial metabolites in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. World Journal of Gastroenterology 25(17), 2019–2028.
- ZITO, P., DÖTTTERL, S. & SAJEVA, M. (2015). Floral volatiles in a sapromyiophilous plant and their importance in attracting house fly pollinators. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 41(4), 340–349.

(Received 28 September 2020; revised 7 June 2021; accepted 8 June 2021; published online 17 June 2021)